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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q
☒ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended March 31, 2022.

or

☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from ___________ to __________.

Commission File Number: 001-33899

Digital Ally, Inc.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Nevada 20-0064269
(State or other jurisdiction of
incorporation or organization)

(I.R.S. Employer
Identification No.)

14001 Marshall Drive, Lenexa, KS 66215
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(913) 814-7774
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Trading Symbol(s) Name of exchange on which registered
Common stock, $0.001 par value per share DGLY The Nasdaq Capital Market LLC

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), 
and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes ☒ No ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant 
to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant 
was required to submit such files).

Yes ☒ No ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting 
company or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting 
company,” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer ☐ Accelerated filer ☐
Non-accelerated filer ☒ Smaller reporting company ☒
Emerging growth company ☐
If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for 
complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). 

Yes ☐ No ☒
Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer’s classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable date:

Class Outstanding at May 20, 2022
Common Stock, $0.001 par value per share 48,447,970
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PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1 – Financial Statements.

DIGITAL ALLY, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

MARCH 31, 2022 AND DECEMBER 31, 2021

March 31, 2022 
(Unaudited) December 31, 2021

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 20,561,116 $ 32,007,792
Accounts receivable – trade, net 3,622,209 2,727,052
Other receivables (including $158,384 due from related parties – March 31, 
2022 and $158,384 – December 31, 2021, refer to Note 19) 1,979,885 2,021,813
Inventories, net 9,405,920 9,659,536
Prepaid expenses 10,272,310 9,728,782

Total current assets 45,841,440 56,144,975

Property, plant, and equipment, net 8,480,180 6,841,026
Goodwill and other intangible assets, net 19,016,683 16,902,513
Operating lease right of use assets, net 1,051,139 993,384
Other assets 4,636,576 2,107,299

Total assets $ 79,026,018 $ 82,989,197

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 7,726,667 $ 4,569,106
Accrued expenses 1,061,821 1,175,998
Current portion of operating lease obligations 402,313 373,371
Contract liabilities – current portion 1,788,721 1,665,519
Debt obligations – current portion 662,717 389,934
Warrant derivative liabilities 14,698,761 14,846,932
Income taxes payable 16,827 1,827

Total current liabilities 26,357,827 23,022,687

Long-term liabilities:
Debt obligations – long term 1,249,347 727,278
Operating lease obligation – long term 717,021 688,207
Contract liabilities – long term 3,221,537 2,687,786

Total liabilities 31,545,732 27,125,958

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders’ Equity:
Common stock, $0.001 par value per share; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 
shares issued: 49,728,357 shares issued – March 31, 2022 and 50,904,391 
shares issued – December 31, 2021 49,728 50,904
Additional paid in capital 124,820,428 124,426,379
Noncontrolling interest in consolidated subsidiary (57,333) 56,453
Accumulated deficit (77,332,537) (68,670,497)

Total stockholders’ equity 47,480,286 55,863,239

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 79,026,018 $ 82,989,197

See Notes to the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DIGITAL ALLY, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED
MARCH 31, 2022 AND 2021

(Unaudited)

Three months 
ended

March 31,
2022

Three months 
ended

March 31,
2021

Revenue:
Product $ 2,410,060 $ 1,912,577
Service and other 7,884,721 623,252

Total revenue 10,294,781 2,535,829

Cost of revenue:
Product 2,822,051 1,561,310
Service and other 5,533,111 162,637

Total cost of revenue 8,355,162 1,723,947

Gross profit 1,939,619 811,882

Selling, general and administrative expenses:
Research and development expense 498,000 448,965
Selling, advertising and promotional expense 2,779,404 596,755
General and administrative expense 5,465,553 2,631,855

Total selling, general and administrative expenses 8,742,957 3,677,575

Operating loss (6,803,338) (2,865,693)

Other income (expense):
Interest income 71,362 41,686
Interest expense (17,009) (1,428)
Other income 43,440 —
Change in fair value of contingent consideration promissory notes (56,050) —
Change in fair value of short-term investments (84,818) (4,964)
Change in fair value of warrant derivative liabilities 148,171 24,552,257

Total other income 105,096 24,587,551

Income (loss) before income tax benefit (6,698,242) 21,721,858
Income tax benefit — —

Net income (loss) (6,698,242) 21,721,858

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests of consolidated subsidiary 98,094 —

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders $ (6,600,148) $ 21,721,858

Net income (loss) per share information:
Basic $ (0.13) $ 0.49
Diluted $ (0.13) $ 0.49

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic 50,931,047 44,766,135
Diluted 50,931,047 44,766,135

See Notes to the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DIGITAL ALLY, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 AND 2021
(Unaudited)

Common Stock
Additional 

Paid In Treasury

Noncontrolling 
interest in 

consolidated Accumulated
Shares Amount Capital stock subsidiary deficit Total

Balance, December 31, 2020 26,834,709 $ 26,835 $106,501,396 $(2,157,226) — $ (90,014,500) $ 14,356,505
Stock-based compensation — — 326,164 — — — 326,164
Restricted common stock grant 450,000 450 (450) — — — —
Restricted common stock forfeitures (7,500) (8) 8 — — — —
Issuance of common stock through registered direct offering 
at $3.095 per share and accompanying warrants (net of 
offering expenses and placement agent discount) 2,800,000 2,800 6,726,200 — — — 6,729,000
Issuance of common stock through registered direct offering 
at $2.80 per share and accompanying warrants (net of 
offering expenses and placement agent discount) 3,250,000 3,250 6,614,350 — — — 6,617,600
Exercise of pre-funded common stock purchase warrants at 
$3.095 per share 7,200,000 7,200 22,276,800 — — — 22,284,000
Exercise of pre-funded common stock purchase warrants at 
$2.80 per share 11,050,000 11,050 30,928,950 — — — 30,940,000
Issuance of pre-funded common stock purchase warrants in 
connection with the registered direct offerings — — (1,817,548) — — — (1,817,548)
Issuance of common stock purchase warrants at exercise price 
of $3.25 per share in connection with the registered direct 
offerings — — (49,398,510) — — — (49,398,510)
Net income — — — — — 21,721,858 21,721,858

Balance, March 31, 2021 51,577,209 $ 51,577 $122,157,360 $(2,157,226) $ — $ (68,292,642) $ 51,759,069

Balance, December 31, 2021 50,904,391 $ 50,904 $124,426,379 $ — 56,453 $ (68,670,497) $ 55,863,239
Stock-based compensation — — 394,749 — — — 394,749
Restricted common stock grant 715,000 715 (715) — — — —
Restricted common stock forfeitures (15,000) (15) 15 — — — —
Repurchase and cancellation of common stock (1,876,034) (1,876) — — — (2,061,892) (2,063,768)
Distribution to noncontrolling interest in consolidated 
subsidiary — — — — (15,692) — (15,692)
Net loss — — — — (98,094) (6,600,148) (6,698,242)

Balance, March 31, 2022 49,728,357 $ 49,728 $124,820,428 $ — $ (57,333) $ (77,332,537) $ 47,480,286

See Notes to the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DIGITAL ALLY, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 AND 2021
(Unaudited)

Three months 
ended

March 31,
2022

Three months 
ended

March 31,
2021

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net income (loss) $ (6,698,242) $ 21,721,858
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash flows used in operating 
activities:

Depreciation and amortization 493,395 55,422
Stock-based compensation 394,749 326,164
Change in fair value of warrant derivative liabilities (148,171) (24,552,257)
Provision for inventory obsolescence 18,629 427,907
Provision for doubtful accounts receivable (150,636) —
Change in fair value of contingent consideration promissory note 56,050 —

Change in operating assets and liabilities (net of assets and liabilities acquired):
(Increase) decrease in:

Accounts receivable – trade (744,521) 574,072
Accounts receivable – other 41,928 (379,472)
Inventories 234,987 (1,115,549)
Prepaid expenses (512,817) 200,027
Operating lease right of use assets 102,165 4,434
Other assets (2,529,277) (187,291)

Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable 2,958,343 (478,608)
Accrued expenses (142,043) 69,630
Operating lease obligations (102,164) (15,451)
Income taxes payable 15,000 —
Contract liabilities 656,953 142,270

Net cash used in operating activities (6,055,672) (3,206,844)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Purchases of furniture, fixtures and equipment (1,774,592) (77,011)
Additions to intangible assets (37,127) (22,263)
Cash paid for acquisition of Medical Billing Company (1,153,627) —
Cash paid for asset acquisition from Medical Billing Company (230,000) —

Net cash used in investing activities (3,195,346) (99,274)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Repurchase and cancellation of common stock (2,063,768) —
Distribution to noncontrolling interest in consolidated subsidiary (15,692) —
Net proceeds from sale of common stock in registered direct offerings — 13,346,600
Proceeds from issuance of common stock upon exercise of pre-funded warrants — 53,224,000
Principal payment on contingent consideration promissory notes (116,198) —

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (2,195,658) 66,570,600

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (11,446,676) 63,264,482
Cash, cash equivalents, beginning of period 32,007,792 4,361,758

Cash, cash equivalents, end of period $ 20,561,116 $ 67,626,240

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash payments for interest $ 18,847 $ —

Cash payments for income taxes $ 9,969 $ —

Supplemental disclosures of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Restricted common stock grant $ 715 $ 450

Restricted common stock forfeitures $ 15 $ 8

Amounts allocated to initial measurement of warrant derivative liabilities in 
connection to the warrants and pre-funded warrants $ — $ 51,216,058

Issuance of contingent consideration promissory note for business and asset 
acquisitions $ 855,000 $ —

Assets acquired in business acquisitions $ 190,631 $ —

Goodwill acquired in business acquisitions $ 2,100,000 $ —

Liabilities assumed in business acquisitions $ 387,005 $ —



See Notes to the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DIGITAL ALLY, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

NOTE 1. NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Operations:

Digital Ally, Inc. was originally incorporated in Nevada on December 13, 2000 as Vegas Petra, Inc. and had no operations until 
2004. On November 30, 2004, Vegas Petra, Inc. entered into a Plan of Merger with Digital Ally, Inc., at which time the merged entity 
was renamed Digital Ally, Inc.

The business of Digital Ally, Inc. (with its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Digital Ally International, Inc., Shield Products, LLC, 
Digital Ally Healthcare, LLC, TicketSmarter, Inc., Worldwide Reinsurance, Ltd., Digital Connect, Inc., and its majority-owned 
subsidiary Nobility Healthcare, LLC, collectively, “Digital Ally,” “Digital,” and the “Company”) is divided into three reportable 
operating segments: 1) the Video Solutions Segment, 2) the Revenue Cycle Management Segment and 3) the Ticketing Segment. The 
Video Solutions Segment is our legacy business that produces digital video imaging, storage products, disinfectant and related safety 
products for use in law enforcement, security and commercial applications. This segment includes both service and product revenues 
through our subscription models offering cloud and warranty solutions, and hardware sales for video and health safety solutions. The 
Revenue Cycle Management Segment provides working capital and back-office services to a variety of healthcare organizations 
throughout the country, as a monthly service fee. The Ticketing Segment acts as an intermediary between ticket buyers and sellers 
within our secondary ticketing platform, ticketsmarter.com, and we also acquire tickets from primary sellers to then sell through various 
platforms. The accounting guidance on Segment Reporting establishes standards for reporting information regarding operating segments 
in annual financial statements and requires selected information of those segments to be presented in financial statements. Such required 
segment information is included in Note 18.

Basis of Presentation:

The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles in the United States for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 8 of Regulation S-X. 
Accordingly, they do not include all the information and footnotes required by generally accepted accounting principles in the United 
States for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) 
considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. Operating results for the three-month period ended March 31, 2022 are 
not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2022.

The balance sheet at December 31, 2021 has been derived from the audited financial statements at that date, but does not include 
all the information and footnotes required by generally accepted accounting principles in the United States for complete financial 
statements.

For further information, refer to the audited financial statements and footnotes included in the Company’s annual report on Form 
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021.

COVID-19 pandemic:

The COVID-19 pandemic represents a fluid situation that presents a wide range of potential impacts of varying durations for 
different global geographies, including locations where the Company has offices, employees, customers, vendors and other suppliers 
and business partners.

Like most US-based businesses, the COVID-19 pandemic and efforts to mitigate the same began to have impacts on our 
business in March 2020. Since that time, the COVID-19 pandemic has dramatically impacted the global health and economic 
environment, including millions of confirmed cases, business slowdowns or shutdowns, labor shortages, supply chain challenges, 
changes in government spending and requirements, regulatory challenges, inflationary pressures and market volatility.

We operate within the complex integrated global supply chain for both vendors and customers. As the COVID-19 pandemic 
dissipates at varying times and rates in different regions around the world, there could be a prolonged negative impact on these global 
supply chains. Our ability to continue operations at specific facilities will be impacted by the interdependencies of the various 
participants of these global supply chains, which are largely beyond our direct control. A prolonged shut down of these global supply 
chains could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.
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If our suppliers have increased challenges with their workforce (including as a result of illness, absenteeism, reactions to health 
and safety or government requirements), facility closures, timely access to necessary components, materials and other supplies at 
reasonable prices, access to capital, and access to fundamental support services (such as shipping and transportation), they may be 
unable to provide the agreed-upon goods and services in a timely, compliant and cost-effective manner. We have incurred and may in 
the future incur additional costs and delays in our business resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic, including as a result of higher 
prices, schedule delays or the need to identify and develop alternative suppliers. In some instances, we may be unable to identify and 
develop alternative suppliers, incurring additional liabilities under our current contracts and hampering new ones. Our customers have 
experienced, and may continue to experience, disruptions in their operations and supply chains as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, 
which can result in delayed, reduced, or canceled orders, or collection risks, and which may adversely affect our results of operations. 
Similarly, current, and future restrictions or disruptions of transportation, such as reduced availability of air transport, port closures or 
delays, and increased border controls, delays or closures, can also impact our ability to meet demand and could materially adversely 
affect us.

The spread of COVID-19 caused us to modify our business practices (including employee travel, employee work locations, 
cancellation of physical participation in meetings, events and conferences, and social distancing measures). To date, we eased many of 
these modifications. However, we may, in the future, reinstitute the same or similar changes or take further actions as may be required 
by government authorities or that we determine are in the best interests of our employees, customers, partners, vendors, and suppliers. 
Although we managed to continue most of our operations, the future course of the COVID-19 pandemic is uncertain and we cannot 
assure that this global pandemic, including its economic impact, will not have a material adverse impact on our business, financial 
position, results of operations and/or cash flows.

Basis of Consolidation:

The accompanying financial statements include the consolidated accounts of Digital Ally, its wholly-owned subsidiaries, 
Digital Ally International, Inc., Shield Products, LLC, Digital Ally Healthcare, LLC, TicketSmarter, Inc., Worldwide Reinsurance, Ltd., 
Digital Connect, Inc., and its majority-owned subsidiary Nobility Healthcare, LLC. All intercompany balances and transactions have 
been eliminated during consolidation.

The Company formed Digital Ally International, Inc. during August 2009 to facilitate the export sales of its products. The 
Company formed Shield Products, LLC in May 2020 to facilitate the sales of its Shield™ line of disinfectant/cleanser products and 
ThermoVu® line of temperature monitoring equipment. The Company formed Nobility Healthcare, LLC in June 2021 to facilitate the 
operations of its revenue cycle management solutions and back-office services for healthcare organizations. Lastly, the Company 
formed TicketSmarter, Inc. upon its acquisition of Goody Tickets, LLC and TicketSmarter, LLC, to facilitate its global ticketing 
operations. The Company formed Worldwide Reinsurance Ltd., which is a captive insurance company domiciled in Bermuda. It will 
provide primarily liability insurance coverage to the Company for which insurance may not be currently available or economically 
feasible in today’s insurance marketplace. The Company formed Digital Connect, Inc. for travel and transportation purposes in 2022.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments:

The carrying amounts of financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and 
subordinated notes payable approximate fair value because of the short-term nature of these items. 

Revenue Recognition:

The Company applies the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 606-10, Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers, and all related appropriate guidance. The Company recognizes revenue under the core principle to depict the transfer of 
control to its customers in an amount reflecting the consideration to which it expects to be entitled. In order to achieve that core 
principle, the Company applies the following five-step approach: (1) identify the contract with a customer, (2) identify the performance 
obligations in the contract, (3) determine the transaction price, (4) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the 
contract, and (5) recognize revenue when a performance obligation is satisfied.

The Company has two different revenue streams, product and service, represented through its three segments. The Company 
reports all revenues on a gross basis, other than service revenues from the Company’s ticketing and revenue cycle management 
segments. Revenues generated by all segments are reported net of sales taxes.
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Video Solutions

The Company considers customer purchase orders, which in some cases are governed by master sales agreements, to be the 
contracts with the customer. In situation where sales are to a distributor, the Company had concluded its contracts are with the 
distributor as the Company holds a contract bearing enforceable rights and obligations only with the distributor. As part of part of its 
consideration for the contract, the Company evaluates certain factors including the customers’ ability to pay (or credit risk). For each 
contract, the Company considers the promise to transfer products, each of which is distinct, to be the identified performance obligations. 
In determining the transaction price, the Company evaluates whether the price is subject to refund or adjustment to determine the net 
consideration to which it expects to be entitled. As the Company’s standard payment terms are less than one year, it has elected the 
practical expedient under ASC 606-10-32-18 to not assess whether a contract has a significant financing component. The Company 
allocates the transaction price to each distinct product based on its relative standalone selling price. The product price as specified on the 
purchase order is considered the standalone selling price as it is an observable input which depicts the price as if sold to a similar 
customer in similar circumstances. Revenue is recognized when control of the product is transferred to the customer (i.e. when the 
Company’s performance obligations is satisfied), which typically occurs at shipment. Further in determining whether control has been 
transferred, the Company considers if there is a present right to payment and legal title, along with risks and rewards of ownership 
having transferred to the customer. Customers do not have a right to return the product other than for warranty reasons for which they 
would only receive repair services or replacement product. The Company has also elected the practical expedient under ASC 340-40-
25-4 to expense commissions for product sales when incurred as the amortization period of the commission asset the Company would 
have otherwise recognized is less than one year.

Service and other revenue is comprised of revenues from extended warranties, repair services, cloud revenue and software 
revenue. Revenue is recognized upon shipment of the product and acceptance of the service or materials by the end customer for repair 
services. Revenue for extended warranty, cloud service or other software-based products is over the term of the contract warranty or 
service period. A time-elapsed method is used to measure progress because the Company transfers control evenly over the contractual 
period. Accordingly, the fixed consideration related to these revenues is generally recognized on a straight-line basis over the contract 
term, as long as the other revenue recognition criteria have been met.

The Company’s multiple performance obligations may include future in-car or body-worn camera devices to be delivered at 
defined points within a multi-year contract, and in those arrangements, the Company allocates total arrangement consideration over the 
life of the multi-year contract to future deliverables using management’s best estimate of selling price.

Revenue Cycle Management

The Company reports revenue cycle management revenues on a net basis, as its primary source of revenue is its end-to end 
service fees which is generally determined as a percentage of the invoice amounts collected. These service fees are reported as revenue 
monthly upon completion of the Company’s performance obligation to provide the agreed upon service.

Ticketing

The Company reports ticketing revenue on a gross or net basis based on management’s assessment of whether the Company is 
acting as a principal or agent in the transaction. The determination is based upon the evaluation of control over the event ticket, 
including the right to sell the ticket, prior to its transfer to the ticket buyer.

The Company sells tickets held in inventory, which consists of one performance obligation, being to transfer control of an 
event ticket to the buyer upon confirmation of the order. The Company acts as the principal in these transactions as the ticket is owned 
by the Company at the time of sale, therefore controlling the ticket prior to transferring to the customer. In these transactions, revenue is 
recorded on a gross basis based on the value of the ticket and is recognized when an order is confirmed. Payment is typically due upon 
delivery of the ticket.
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The Company also acts as an intermediary between buyers and sellers through the online secondary marketplace. Revenues 
derived from this marketplace primarily consist of service fees from ticketing operations, and consists of one primary performance 
obligation, which is facilitating the transaction between the buyer and seller, being satisfied at the time the order has been confirmed. As 
the Company does not control the ticket prior to the transfer, the Company acts as an agent in these transactions. Revenue is recognized 
on a net basis, net of the amount due to the seller when an order is confirmed. The seller is then obligated to deliver the tickets to the 
buyer per the seller’s listing, and payment is due at the time of sale.

Other

Contract liabilities consist of deferred revenue and include payments received in advance of performance under the contract 
and are reported separately as current liabilities and non-current liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Such amounts consist of 
extended warranty contracts, prepaid cloud services and prepaid installation services and are generally recognized as the respective 
performance obligations are satisfied. During the three months ended March 31, 2022, the Company recognized revenue of $0.5 million 
related to its contract liabilities. Contract liabilities consist of deferred revenue and include payments received in advance of 
performance under the contract and are reported separately as current liabilities and non-current liabilities in the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets. Such amounts consist of extended warranty contracts, prepaid cloud services and prepaid installation services and are generally 
recognized as the respective performance obligations are satisfied. Total contract liabilities consist of the following:

March 31, 2022
December 31,

2021 Additions/Reclass
Recognized 

Revenue
March 31,

2022
Contract liabilities, current $ 1,665,519 $ 280,375 $ 157,173 $ 1,788,721
Contract liabilities, non-current 2,687,786 897,438 363,687 3,221,537

$ 4,353,305 $ 1,177,813 $ 520,860 $ 5,010,258

Sales returns and allowances aggregated $117,376 and $45,298 for the years ended March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, 
respectively. Obligations for estimated sales returns and allowances are recognized at the time of sales on an accrual basis. The accrual 
is determined based upon historical return rates adjusted for known changes in key variables affecting these return rates.

Use of Estimates:

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenues 
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Management utilizes various other estimates, 
including but not limited to determining the estimated lives of long-lived assets, determining the potential impairment of long-lived 
assets, the fair value of warrants, options, the recognition of revenue, inventory valuation reserve, fair value of assets and liabilities 
acquired in a business combination, incremental borrowing rate on leases, the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets and other legal 
claims and contingencies. The results of any changes in accounting estimates are reflected in the financial statements in the period in 
which the changes become evident. Estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically, and the effects of revisions are reflected in the 
period that they are determined to be necessary.

Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and cash equivalents include funds on hand, in bank and short-term investments with original maturities of ninety (90) 
days or less.

March 31, 2022
Adjusted 

Cost
Realized 

Gains
Realized
Losses Fair Value

Demand deposits $ 6,951,901 $ — $ — $ 6,951,901
Short-term investments with original maturities of 90 days 
or less (Level 1)(1):

Money market funds 13,609,215 — — 13,609,215
Mutual funds 84,818 — (84,818) —

$ 20,645,934 $ — $ (84,818) $ 20,561,116

December 31, 2021
Adjusted 

Cost
Unrealized 

Gains
Unrealized

Losses Fair Value
Demand deposits $ 5,031,246 $ — $ — $ 5,031,246
Short-term investments with original maturities of 90 days 
or less (Level 1)(1):

Money market funds 14,928,526 — — 14,928,526
Mutual funds 12,079,901 — (31,881) 12,048,020

$ 32,039,673 $ — $ (31,881) $ 32,007,792
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The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents in banks insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) in 
accounts that at times may be in excess of the federally insured limit of $250,000 per bank. The Company minimizes this risk by placing 
its cash deposits with major financial institutions. At March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the uninsured balance amounted to 
$18,438,051 and $29,836,142, respectively.

Accounts Receivable:

Accounts receivable are carried at original invoice amount less an estimate made for doubtful receivables based on a review of 
all outstanding amounts on a weekly basis. The Company determines the allowance for doubtful accounts by regularly evaluating 
individual customer receivables and considering a customer’s financial condition, credit history, and current economic conditions.

Trade receivables are written off when deemed uncollectible. Recoveries of trade receivables previously written off are 
recorded when received. A trade receivable is considered to be past due if any portion of the receivable balance is outstanding for more 
than thirty (30) days beyond terms. No interest is charged on overdue trade receivables.

Goodwill and Other Intangibles:

Goodwill - In connection with acquisitions, the Company applies the provisions of ASC 805, Business Combinations, using the 
acquisition method of accounting. The excess purchase price over the fair value of net tangible assets and identifiable intangible assets 
acquired is recorded as goodwill. In accordance with ASC 350, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other, the Company assesses goodwill for 
impairment annually as of December 31, and more frequently if events and circumstances indicate that goodwill might be impaired.

Goodwill impairment testing is performed at the reporting unit level. Goodwill is assigned to reporting units at the date the 
goodwill is initially recorded. Once goodwill has been assigned to reporting units, it no longer retains its association with a particular 
acquisition, and all of the activities within a reporting unit, whether acquired or internally generated, are available to support the value of 
the goodwill.

Traditionally, goodwill impairment testing is a two-step process. Step one involves comparing the fair value of the reporting 
units to its carrying amount. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit is greater than zero and its fair value is greater than its carrying 
amount, there is no impairment. If the reporting unit’s carrying amount is greater than the fair value, the second step must be completed 
to measure the amount of impairment, if any. Step two involves calculating an implied fair value of goodwill. The Company has adopted 
ASU 2017-04 which simplifies subsequent goodwill measurement by eliminating step two from the goodwill impairment test. As a 
result, the Company compares the fair value of a reporting unit with its respective carrying value and recognized an impairment charge 
for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeded the reporting unit’s fair value.

The Company determines the fair value of its reporting units using an income approach. Under the income approach, the 
Company determined fair value based on estimated discounted future cash flows of each reporting unit. Determining the fair value of a 
reporting unit is judgmental in nature and requires the use of significant estimates and assumptions, including revenue growth rates and 
EBITDA margins, discount rates and future market conditions, among others.

Long-lived and Other Intangible Assets - The Company periodically assesses potential impairments of its long-lived assets in 
accordance with the provisions of ASC 360, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets. An impairment review is 
performed whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable. The 
Company groups its assets at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of the other 
assets and liabilities. The Company has determined that the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are available is the operating 
segment level.

Factors considered by the Company include, but are not limited to, significant underperformance relative to historical or 
projected operating results; significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets or the strategy for the overall business; and 
significant negative industry or economic trends. When the carrying value of a long-lived asset may not be recoverable based upon the 
existence of one or more of the above indicators of impairment, the Company estimates the future undiscounted cash flows expected to 
result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition. If the sum of the expected future undiscounted cash flows and eventual 
disposition is less than the carrying amount of the asset, the Company recognizes an impairment loss. An impairment loss is reflected as 
the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset, based on the fair value if available, or 
discounted cash flows, if fair value is not available. The Company last assessed potential impairments of its long-lived assets as of 
March 31, 2022 and concluded that there was no impairment.
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Intangible assets include deferred patent costs and license agreements. Legal expenses incurred in preparation of patent 
application have been deferred and will be amortized over the useful life of granted patents. Costs incurred in preparation of applications 
that are not granted will be charged to expense at that time. The Company has entered into several sublicense agreements under which it 
has been assigned the exclusive rights to certain licensed materials used in its products. These sublicense agreements generally require 
upfront payments to obtain the exclusive rights to such material. The Company capitalizes the upfront payments as intangible assets and 
amortizes such costs over their estimated useful life on a straight-line method.

Segment Reporting

The accounting guidance on Segment Reporting establishes standards for reporting information regarding operating segments 
in annual financial statements and requires selected information of those segments to be presented in financial statements. Operating 
segments are identified as components of an enterprise for which separate discrete financial information is available for evaluation by 
the chief operating decision maker (the Company’s Chief Executive Officer or “CODM”) in making decisions on how to allocate 
resources and assess performance. The Company’s three operating segments are Video Solutions, Revenue Cycle Management, and 
Ticketing, each of which has specific personnel responsible for that business and reports to the CODM. Corporate expenses capture the 
Company’s corporate administrative activities, and is also to be reported in the segment information. The Company’s captive insurance 
subsidiary provides services to the Company’s other business segments and not to outside customers; however, that subsidiary had no 
activity in the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021. Therefore, its operations will be eliminated in consolidation and it is not 
considered a separate business segment for financial reporting purposes.

Contingent Consideration

In circumstances where an acquisition involves a contingent consideration arrangement that meets the definition of a liability 
under the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 480, Distinguishing Liabilities 
from Equity, the Company recognizes a liability equal to the fair value of the contingent payments the Company expects to make as of 
the acquisition date. The Company remeasures this liability each reporting period and records changes in the fair value through the 
consolidated statement of operations.

Repurchase and Cancellation of Shares

From time to time, the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) may authorize share repurchases of common stock. Shares 
repurchased under Board authorizations are held in treasury for general corporate purposes and cancelled when it is determined 
appropriate by management. The Company accounts for repurchases of common stock under the cost method. Shares repurchased and 
cancelled during the period were recorded as a reduction to stockholders’ (deficit) equity. See further discussion of the Company’s share 
repurchase program in Note 14 –Stockholders’ Equity.

Non-Controlling Interests

Non-controlling interests in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements represents the interest in subsidiaries held by 
our venture partner. The venture partner holds a noncontrolling interests in the Company’s consolidated subsidiary Nobility Healthcare, 
LLC. Since the Company consolidates the financial statements of all wholly-owned and majority owned subsidiaries, the noncontrolling 
owners’ share of each subsidiary’s results of operations are deducted and reported as net income or loss attributable to noncontrolling 
interest in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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New Accounting Standards

In 2020, FASB issued ASU No. 2020-06 to simplify the accounting for convertible debt instruments as the current accounting 
guidance was determined to be unnecessarily complex and difficult to navigate. The ASU primarily does three things: (1) The ASU 
eliminates the beneficial conversion feature model and the cash conversion model. The elimination of these models will result in more 
convertible instruments (convertible debt instruments or convertible preferred stock instruments) being reported as a single liability 
instrument. The ASU also makes targeted improvements to the related disclosures, (2) The ASU eliminates certain settlement conditions 
that are required to qualify for derivative scope exception which will allow for less equity contracts to be accounted for as a derivative 
and (3) The ASU aligns the diluted EPS calculation for convertible instruments by requiring the use of the if-converted method and 
requiring share settlement be included in the calculation when the contract includes an option of cash or share settlement. ASU No. 
2020-06 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021 with early adoption permitted for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2020. The adoption of this standard did not have a significant impact on the Company’s financial position and results of 
operations.

In 2020, FASB issued ASU No. 2020-01 which represents a consensus of the Emerging Issues Task Force and it clarifies 
certain items related to ASU 2016-01, Financial Instruments—Overall (Subtopic 825-10): Recognition and Measurement of Financial 
Assets and Financial Liabilities. The ASU (1) clarifies that when an entity is either applying the equity method or upon discontinuing 
the equity method it should consider observable price changes in orderly transactions for the identical or a similar investment with the 
same issuer for valuing basis of the investment and (2) clarifies that when determining the accounting for certain forward contracts and 
purchased options an entity should not consider, whether upon settlement or exercise, if the underlying securities would be accounted 
for under the equity method or fair value option. ASU No. 2020-01 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020 with 
early adoption permitted. The Company adopted this update for the quarter ended March 31, 2021. The adoption of this standard did not 
have a significant impact on the Company’s financial position and results of operations.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Income Taxes - simplifying the accounting for income taxes (Topic 
740), which is meant to simplify the accounting for income taxes by removing certain exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740, 
Income Taxes. The amendment also improves consistent application and simplifies GAAP for other areas of Topic 740 by clarifying and 
amending existing guidance. The adoption of this standard did not have a significant impact on the Company’s financial position and 
results of operations.
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In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, “Financial Instruments – Credit Losses” to improve information on credit losses 
for financial assets and net investment in leases that are not accounted for at fair value through net income. ASU 2016-13 replaces the 
current incurred loss impairment methodology with a methodology that reflects expected credit losses. In April 2019 and May 2019, the 
FASB issued ASU No. 2019-04, “Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses, Topic 815, 
Derivatives and Hedging, and Topic 825, Financial Instruments” and ASU No. 2019-05, “Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 
326): Targeted Transition Relief” which provided additional implementation guidance on the previously issued ASU. In November 
2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-10, “Financial Instruments - Credit Loss (Topic 326), Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815), and 
Leases (Topic 842),” which defers the effective date for public filers that are considered small reporting companies (“SRC”) as defined 
by the Securities and Exchange Commission to fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods within those 
fiscal years. The Company will continue to evaluate the effect of adopting ASU 2016-13 will have on the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-15, Intangible-Goodwill and Other Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40), 
or ASU 2018-15. ASU 2018-15 updates guidance regarding accounting for implementation costs associated with a cloud computing 
arrangement that is a service contract. The amendments under ASU 2018-15 are effective for interim and annual fiscal periods 
beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption permitted. The adoption of this standard did not have a significant impact on 
the Company’s financial position and results of operations,

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Income Taxes - simplifying the accounting for income taxes (Topic 
740), which is meant to simplify the accounting for income taxes by removing certain exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740, 
Income Taxes. The amendment also improves consistent application and simplify GAAP for other areas of Topic 740 by clarifying and 
amending existing guidance. The amendments in ASU 2019-12 are effective for public business entities for fiscal years beginning after 
Dec. 15, 2020. The adoption of this standard did not have a significant impact on the Company’s financial position and results of 
operations.

NOTE 2. INVENTORIES

Inventories consisted of the following at March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021:

March 31,
2022

December 31,
2021

Raw material and component parts– video solutions segment $ 3,839,796 $ 3,062,046
Work-in-process– video solutions segment 56 —
Finished goods – video solutions segment 7,990,526 8,410,307
Finished goods – ticketing segment 1,472,002 2,102,272
Subtotal 13,302,380 13,574,625

Reserve for excess and obsolete inventory– video solutions 
segment (3,334,829) (3,353,458)
Reserve for excess and obsolete inventory – ticketing segment (561,631) (561,631)

Total inventories $ 9,405,920 $ 9,659,536
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Finished goods inventory includes units held by potential customers and sales agents for test and evaluation purposes. The cost of 
such units totaled $179,273 and $153,976 as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively.

NOTE 3. DEBT OBLIGATIONS

Debt obligations is comprised of the following:

March 31, 
2022

December 31, 
2021

Economic injury disaster loan (EIDL) $ 150,000 $ 150,000
Contingent consideration promissory note – Nobility Healthcare 
Division Acquisition 234,027 317,212
Contingent consideration promissory note – Nobility Healthcare 
Division Acquisition 673,037 650,000
Contingent consideration promissory note – Nobility Healthcare 
Division Acquisition 750,000 —
Contingent consideration promissory note – Nobility Healthcare 
Division Acquisition 105,000 —
Debt obligations 1,912,064 1,117,212
Less: current maturities of debt obligations 662,717 389,934
Debt obligations, long-term $ 1,249,347 $ 727,278

Debt obligations mature as follows as of March 31, 2022:

March 31, 2022
2022 (April 1, 2022 to December 31, 2022) $ 475,652
2023 748,305
2024 546,856
2025 3,412
2026 3,542
2027 and thereafter 134,297

Total $ 1,912,064

2020 Small Business Administration Notes.

On May 4, 2020, the Company issued a promissory note in connection with the receipt of the Paycheck Protection Program 
(“PPP”) Loan of $1,418,900 (the “PPP Loan”) under the Small Business Administration’s (the “SBA”) PPP Program under the 
Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”). The PPP Loan has a two-year term and bears interest at a rate 
of 1.0% per annum. Monthly principal and interest payments were deferred for nine months after the date of disbursement and total 
$79,851 per month thereafter. The PPP Loan could have been prepaid at any time prior to maturity with no prepayment penalties. The 
promissory note contained events of default and other provisions customary for a loan of this type. The PPP Loan provides that it may 
be partially or wholly forgiven if the funds are used for certain qualifying expenses as described in the CARES Act. The Company used 
the majority of the PPP Loan amount for qualifying expenses. On December 10, 2020, the Company was fully forgiven of its 
$1,418,900 PPP Loan. Additionally, the Company was fully forgiven, during the three months ended June 30, 2021, of its $10,000 EIDL 
advance received with the PPP Loan.

On May 12, 2020, the Company received $150,000 in loan funding from the SBA under the EIDL program administered by 
the SBA, which program was expanded pursuant to the recently enacted CARES Act. The EIDL is evidenced by a secured promissory 
note, dated May 8, 2020, in the original principal amount of $150,000 with the SBA, the lender.
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Under the terms of the note issued under the EIDL program, interest accrues on the outstanding principal at the rate of 3.75% 
per annum. The term of such note is thirty years, though it may be payable sooner upon an event of default under such note. Monthly 
principal and interest payments are deferred for twenty-four months after the date of disbursement and total $731 per month thereafter. 
Such note may be prepaid in part or in full, at any time, without penalty. The Company granted the secured party a continuing interest in 
and to any and all collateral, including but not limited to tangible and intangible personal property.

Contingent Consideration Promissory Notes

On June 30, 2021, Nobility Healthcare, a subsidiary of the Company, issued a contingent consideration promissory note (the 
“June Contingent Note”) in connection with a stock purchase agreement between Nobility Healthcare and a private company (the “June 
Seller”) of $350,000. The June Contingent Note has a three-year term and bears interest at a rate of 3.00% per annum. Quarterly 
principal and interest payments are deferred for six months and is due in equal quarterly installments on the seventh business day of 
each quarter. The principal amount of the June Contingent Note is subject to an earn-out adjustment, being the difference between 
$975,000 (the “June Projected Revenue”) and the cash basis revenue (the “June Measurement Period Revenue”) collected by the June 
Seller in its normal course of business from the clients existing on June 30, 2021, during the period from October 1, 2021 through 
September 30, 2022 (the “June Measurement Period”) measured on a quarterly basis and annualized as of the relevant period. If the June 
Measurement Period Revenue is less than the June Projected Revenue, such amount will be subtracted from the principal balance of this 
June Contingent Note on a dollar-for-dollar basis. If the June Measurement Period Revenue is more than the June Projected Revenue, 
such amount will be added to the principal balance of this June Contingent Note on a dollar-for-dollar basis. In no event will the 
principal balance of this June Contingent Note become a negative number. The maximum downward earn-out adjustment to the 
principal balance will be a reduction to zero. There are no limits to the increases to the principal balance of the June Contingent Note as 
a result of the earn-out adjustments.

The June Contingent Note is considered to be additional purchase price; therefore, the estimated fair value of the contingent 
liability is recorded as a liability at the acquisition date and the fair value is considered part of the consideration paid for the acquisition 
with subsequent changes in fair value recorded as a gain or loss in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Management recorded the 
contingent consideration promissory note at its estimated fair value of $350,000 at the acquisition date. Total principal payments on this 
contingent consideration promissory note totaled $31,721 during the three months ended March 31, 2022. The estimated fair value of 
the June Contingent Note at March 31, 2022 is $234,027, representing a reduction in its estimated fair value of $51,464 as compared to 
its estimated fair value as of December 31, 2021. Therefore, the Company recorded a gain of $51,464 in the Consolidated Statements of 
Operations for the three months ended March 31, 2022.

On August 31, 2021, Nobility Healthcare issued another contingent consideration promissory note (the “August Contingent 
Payment Note”) in connection with a stock purchase agreement between Nobility Healthcare and a private company (the “August 
Sellers”) of $650,000. The August Contingent Payment Note has a three-year term and bears interest at a rate of 3.00% per annum. 
Quarterly principal and interest payments are deferred for six months and is due in equal quarterly installments on the seventh business 
day of each quarter. The principal amount of the August Contingent Payment Note is subject to an earn-out adjustment, being the 
difference between $3,000,000 (the “August Projected Revenue”) and the cash basis revenue (the “August Measurement Period 
Revenue”) collected by the August Sellers in its normal course of business from the clients existing on September 1, 2021, during the 
period from December 1, 2021 through November 30, 2022 (the “August Measurement Period”) measured on a quarterly basis and 
annualized as of the relevant period. If the August Measurement Period Revenue is less than the August Projected Revenue, such 
amount will be subtracted from the principal balance of this August Contingent Payment Note on a dollar-for-dollar basis. If the August 
Measurement Period Revenue is more than the August Projected Revenue, such amount will be added to the principal balance of this 
August Contingent Payment Note on a dollar-for-dollar basis. In no event will the principal balance of this August Contingent Payment 
Note become a negative number. The maximum downward earn-out adjustment to the principal balance will be a reduction to zero. 
There are no limits to the increases to the principal balance of the August Contingent Payment Note as a result of the earn-out 
adjustments.
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The August Contingent Payment Note is considered to be additional purchase price, therefore the estimated fair value of the 
contingent liability is recorded as a liability at the acquisition date and the fair value is considered part of the consideration paid for the 
acquisition with subsequent changes in fair value recorded as a gain or loss in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Management 
recorded the contingent consideration promissory note at its estimated fair value of $650,000 at the acquisition date. Principal payments 
on this contingent consideration promissory note totaled $84,477 during the three months ended March 31, 2022. The estimated fair 
value of the August Contingent Note at March 31, 2022 is $673,037, representing an increase in its estimated fair value of $107,514 as 
compared to is estimated fair value as of December 31, 2021. Therefore, the Company recorded a loss of $107,514 in the Consolidated 
Statements of Operations for the three months ended March 31, 2022.

On January 1, 2022, Nobility Healthcare issued another contingent consideration promissory note (the “January Contingent 
Payment Note”) in connection with a stock purchase agreement between Nobility Healthcare and a private company (the “January 
Sellers”) of $750,000. The January Contingent Payment Note has a two and a half year term and bears interest at a rate of 3.00% per 
annum. Quarterly principal and interest payments are deferred for seven months and is due in equal quarterly installments on the tenth 
business day of each quarter. The principal amount of the January Contingent Payment Note is subject to an earn-out adjustment, being 
the difference between $3,500,000 (the “January Projected Revenue”) and the cash basis revenue (the “January Measurement Period 
Revenue”) collected by the January Sellers in its normal course of business from the clients existing on January 1, 2022, during the 
period from April 1, 2022 through March 31, 2023 (the “January Measurement Period”) measured on a quarterly basis and annualized as 
of the relevant period. If the January Measurement Period Revenue is less than the January Projected Revenue, such amount will be 
subtracted from the principal balance of this January Contingent Payment Note on a dollar-for-dollar basis. If the January Measurement 
Period Revenue is more than the January Projected Revenue, such amount will be added to the principal balance of this January 
Contingent Payment Note on a dollar-for-dollar basis. In no event will the principal balance of this January Contingent Payment Note 
become a negative number. The maximum downward earn-out adjustment to the principal balance will be a reduction to zero. There are 
no limits to the increases to the principal balance of the January Contingent Payment Note as a result of the earn-out adjustments.

The January Contingent Payment Note is considered to be additional purchase price, therefore the estimated fair value of the 
contingent liability is recorded as a liability at the acquisition date and the fair value is considered part of the consideration paid for the 
acquisition. Management has recorded the contingent consideration promissory note at its estimated fair value of $750,000 at the 
acquisition date. Management will continue to estimate the fair value of this January Contingent Payment Note at each reporting date 
with the change, if any, recorded as a gain or loss in the statement of operations during the relevant period. Management determined that 
there was no change in estimated fair value relative to this contingent consideration promissory note for the three months ended March 
31, 2022. There were no principal payments on this contingent consideration promissory note during the three months ended March 31, 
2022.

On February 1, 2022, Nobility Healthcare issued another contingent consideration promissory note (the “February Contingent 
Payment Note”) in connection with an asset purchase agreement between Nobility Healthcare and a private company (the “February 
Sellers”) of $105,000. The February Contingent Payment Note has a three-year term and bears interest at a rate of 3.00% per annum. 
Quarterly principal and interest payments are deferred for seven months and is due in equal quarterly installments on the tenth business 
day of each quarter. The principal amount of the February Contingent Payment Note is subject to an earn-out adjustment, being the 
difference between $440,000 (the “February Projected Revenue”) and the cash basis revenue (the “February Measurement Period 
Revenue”) collected by the February Sellers in its normal course of business from the clients existing on February 1, 2022, during the 
period from May 1, 2022 through April 30, 2023 (the “February Measurement Period”) measured on a quarterly basis and annualized as 
of the relevant period. If the February Measurement Period Revenue is less than the February Projected Revenue, such amount will be 
subtracted from the principal balance of this February Contingent Payment Note on a dollar-for-dollar basis. If the February 
Measurement Period Revenue is more than the February Projected Revenue, such amount will be added to the principal balance of this 
February Contingent Payment Note on a dollar-for-dollar basis. In no event will the principal balance of this February Contingent 
Payment Note become a negative number. The maximum downward earn-out adjustment to the principal balance will be a reduction to 
zero. There are no limits to the increases to the principal balance of the February Contingent Payment Note as a result of the earn-out 
adjustments.
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The February Contingent Payment Note is considered to be additional purchase price, therefore the estimated fair value of the 
contingent liability is recorded as a liability at the acquisition date and the fair value is considered part of the consideration paid for the 
acquisition. Management has recorded the contingent consideration promissory note at its estimated fair value of $105,000 at the 
acquisition date. Management will continue to estimate the fair value of this February Contingent Payment Note at each reporting date 
with the change, if any, recorded as a gain or loss in the statement of operations during the relevant period. Management determined that 
there was no change in estimated fair value relative to this contingent consideration promissory note for the three months ended March 
31, 2022. There were no principal payments on this contingent consideration promissory note during the three months ended March 31, 
2022.

NOTE 4. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

In accordance with ASC Topic 820 — Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (“ASC 820”), the Company utilizes the 
market approach to measure fair value for its financial assets and liabilities. The market approach uses prices and other relevant 
information generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets, liabilities or a group of assets or liabilities, such 
as a business.

ASC 820 utilizes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three 
broad levels. The following is a brief description of those three levels:

● Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities

● Level 2 — Other significant observable inputs (including quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities)

● Level 3 — Significant unobservable inputs (including the Company’s own assumptions in determining the fair value)

The following table represents the Company’s hierarchy for its financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021:

March 31, 2022
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Liabilities:
Warrant derivative liabilities $ — $ — $ 14,698,761 $ 14,698,761
Contingent consideration promissory notes — — 1,762,064 1,762,064

$ — $ — $ 16,460,825 $ 16,460,825

December 31, 2021
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Liabilities:
Warrant derivative liabilities $ — $ — $ 14,846,932 $ 14,846,932
Contingent consideration promissory notes and 
contingent consideration earn-out agreement — — 967,212 967,212

$ — $ — $ 15,814,144 $ 15,814,144
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The following table represents the change in Level 3 tier value measurements for the three months ended March 31, 2022:

Contingent 
Consideration 

Promissory Notes
Warrant Derivative 

Liabilities

Balance, December 31, 2021 $ 967,212 $ 14,846,932

Issuance of contingent consideration promissory note - Revenue Cycle 
Management Segment Acquisition 750,000 —

Issuance of contingent consideration promissory note - Revenue Cycle 
Management Segment Acquisition 105,000 —

Principal payments on contingent consideration promissory notes – Revenue 
Cycle Management Acquisitions (116,198) —

Change in fair value of contingent consideration promissory notes - Revenue 
Cycle Management Acquisitions 56,050 —

Change in fair value of warrant derivative liabilities — (148,171)

Balance, March 31, 2022 $ 1,762,064 $ 14,698,761
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NOTE 5. ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accrued expenses consisted of the following at March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021:

March 31,
2022

December 31,
2021

Accrued warranty expense $ 10,582 $ 13,742
Accrued litigation costs 250,000 250,000
Accrued sales commissions 45,000 30,213
Accrued payroll and related fringes 370,849 453,858
Accrued sales returns and allowances 117,377 45,298
Accrued taxes 69,079 180,486
Other 198,934 202,401

$ 1,061,821 $ 1,175,998

Accrued warranty expense was comprised of the following for the three months ended March 31, 2022:

Beginning balance $ 13,742
Provision for warranty expense 21,513
Charges applied to warranty reserve (24,673)

Ending balance $ 10,582

NOTE 6. INCOME TAXES

The effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 varied from the expected statutory rate due to the 
Company continuing to provide a 100% valuation allowance on net deferred tax assets. The Company determined that it was appropriate 
to continue the full valuation allowance on net deferred tax assets as of March 31, 2022, primarily because of the Company’s history of 
operating losses.

The Company has incurred operating losses in recent years, and it continues to be in a three-year cumulative loss position at 
March 31, 2022. Accordingly, the Company determined there was not sufficient positive evidence regarding its potential for future 
profits to outweigh the negative evidence of our three-year cumulative loss position under the guidance provided in ASC 740. Therefore, 
it determined to continue to provide a 100% valuation allowance on its net deferred tax assets. The Company expects to continue to 
maintain a full valuation allowance until it determines that it can sustain a level of profitability that demonstrates its ability to realize 
these assets. To the extent the Company determines that the realization of some or all of these benefits is more likely than not based 
upon expected future taxable income, a portion or all of the valuation allowance will be reversed. The Company has available to it 
approximately $81.4 million (based on its December 31, 2021 tax return) in net operating loss carryforwards to offset future taxable 
income as of March 31, 2022.

NOTE 7. PREPAID EXPENSES

Prepaid expenses were the following at March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021:

March 31,
2022

December 31,
2021

Prepaid inventory $ 6,088,591 $ 6,546,100
Prepaid advertising 3,429,022 2,455,527
Other 754,697 727,155
Total prepaid expenses $ 10,272,310 $ 9,728,782
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NOTE 8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment consisted of the following at March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021:

Estimated 
Useful Life

March 31,
2022

December 31,
2021

Building 30 years $ 4,909,478 $ 4,909,478
Land — 789,734 789,734
Office furniture, fixtures and equipment 3-20 years 1,929,539 493,652
Warehouse and production equipment 3-5 years 78,321 65,948
Demonstration and tradeshow equipment 2-5 years 131,838 82,337
Building improvements 2-15 years 1,188,771 911,940
Rental equipment 1-3 years 8,584 8,584
Total cost 9,036,265 7,261,673
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (556,085) (420,647)

Net property, plant and equipment $ 8,480,180 $ 6,841,026

NOTE 9. OPERATING LEASE

On May 13, 2020, the Company entered into an operating lease for new warehouse and office space, which the Company 
currently utilizes as one of its office, assembly and warehouse locations. The original lease agreement was amended on August 28, 2020 
to correct the footage under lease and monthly payment amounts resulting from such correction. The lease terms, as amended, include 
no base rent for the first nine months and monthly payments ranging from $12,398 to $14,741 thereafter, with a termination date of 
December 2026. The Company is responsible for property taxes, utilities, insurance and its proportionate share of common area costs 
related to this location. The Company took possession of the leased facilities on June 15, 2020. The remaining lease term for the 
Company’s office and warehouse operating lease as of March 31, 2022, was fifty-seven months. The Company’s previous office and 
warehouse space lease expired in April 2020 and the Company paid holdover rent for the time period until it moved to and commenced 
occupying the new space on June 15, 2020.

The Company entered into an operating lease with a third party in October 2019 for copiers used for office and warehouse 
purposes. The terms of the lease include 48 monthly payments of $1,598 with a maturity date of October 2023. The Company has the 
option to purchase the equipment at maturity for its estimated fair market value at that point in time. The remaining lease term for the 
Company’s copier operating lease as of March 31, 2022, was nineteen months.

On June 30, 2021, the Company completed the acquisition of a private medical billing company, through its revenue cycle 
management segment. Upon completion of this acquisition, the Company became responsible for the operating lease for the seller’s 
office space. The lease terms include monthly payments ranging from $2,648 to $2,774, with a termination date of July 2024. The 
Company is responsible for property taxes, utilities, insurance and its proportionate share of common area costs related to this location. 
The Company took possession of the leased facilities on June 30, 2021. The remaining lease term for the Company’s office and 
warehouse operating lease as of March 31, 2022, was twenty-eight months.

On August 31, 2021, the Company completed the acquisition of a private medical billing company, through its revenue cycle 
management segment. Upon completion of this acquisition, the Company became responsible for the operating lease for the seller’s 
office space. The lease terms include monthly payments ranging from $11,579 to $11,811, with a termination date of March 2023. The 
Company is responsible for property taxes, utilities, insurance and its proportionate share of common area costs related to this location. 
The Company took possession of the leased facilities on September 1, 2021. The remaining lease term for the Company’s office and 
warehouse operating lease as of March 31, 2022, was twelve months.
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On September 1, 2021, the Company completed the TicketSmarter Acquisition, in its ticketing segment. Upon completion of 
this acquisition, the Company became responsible for the operating lease for TicketSmarter Inc.’s office space. The lease terms include 
monthly payments ranging from $7,211 to $7,364, with a termination date of December 2022. The Company is responsible for property 
taxes, utilities, insurance and its proportionate share of common area costs related to this location. The Company took possession of the 
leased facilities on September 1, 2021. The remaining lease term for the Company’s office and warehouse operating lease as of March 
31, 2022 was nine months.

On January 1, 2022, the Company completed the acquisition of a private medical billing company, through its revenue cycle 
management segment. Upon completion of this acquisition, the Company became responsible for the operating lease for the seller’s 
office space. The lease terms include monthly payments ranging from $4,233 to $4,626, with a termination date of June 2025. The 
Company is responsible for property taxes, utilities, insurance and its proportionate share of common area costs related to this location. 
The Company took possession of the leased facilities on January 1, 2022. The remaining lease term for the Company’s office and 
warehouse operating lease as of March 31, 2022, was thirty-nine months.

Lease expense related to the office space and copier operating leases were recorded on a straight-line basis over their respective 
lease terms. Total lease expense under the six operating leases was approximately $155,072 during the three months ended March 31, 
2022.

The weighted-average remaining lease term related to the Company’s lease liabilities as of March 31, 2022 was 3.7 years.

The discount rate implicit within the Company’s operating leases was not generally determinable and therefore the Company 
determined the discount rate based on its incremental borrowing rate on the information available at commencement date. As of 
commencement date, the operating lease liabilities reflect a weighted average discount rate of 8%.

The following sets forth the operating lease right of use assets and liabilities as of March 31, 2022:

Assets:
Operating lease right of use assets $ 1,051,139

Liabilities:
Operating lease obligations-current portion $ 402,313
Operating lease obligations-less current portion 717,021
Total operating lease obligations $ 1,119,334

The components of lease expense were as follows for the three months ended March 31, 2022:

Selling, general and administrative expenses $ 155,072

Following are the minimum lease payments for each year and in total:

Year ending December 31:
2022 (April 1, to December 31, 2022) $ 374,088
2023 305,627
2024 245,761
2025 196,462
Thereafter 175,113

Total undiscounted minimum future lease payments 1,297,051
Imputed interest (177,717)
Total operating lease liability $ 1,119,334
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NOTE 10. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets consisted of the following at March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021:

March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021

Gross
value

Accumulated
amortization

Net
carrying

value
Gross
value

Accumulated
amortization

Net
carrying

value
Amortized intangible assets:

Licenses (video solutions segment) $ 194,286 $ 69,722 $ 124,564 $ 194,286 $ 65,578 $ 128,708
Patents and trademarks (video solutions 
segment) 493,945 268,101 225,844 493,945 233,471 260,474
Sponsorship agreement network (ticketing 
segment) 5,600,000 653,333 4,946,667 5,600,000 373,333 5,226,667
SEO content (ticketing segment) 600,000 87,500 512,500 600,000 50,000 550,000
Personal seat licenses (ticketing 
segment) 201,931 3,926 198,005 201,931 2,244 199,687
Client agreement (revenue cycle management 
segments) 335,000 — 335,000 — — —

7,425,162 1,082,582 6,342,580 7,090,162 724,626 6,365,536

Indefinite life intangible assets:
Goodwill (ticketing and revenue cycle 
management segments) 12,031,547 — 12,031,547 9,931,547 — 9,931,547
Trade name (ticketing segment) 600,000 — 600,000 600,000 — 600,000
Patents and trademarks pending 
(video solutions segment) 42,556 — 42,556 5,430 — 5,430

Total $20,099,265 $ 1,082,582 $19,016,683 $17,627,139 $ 724,626 $16,902,513

Patents and trademarks pending will be amortized beginning at the time they are issued by the appropriate authorities. If 
issuance of the final patent or trademark is denied, then the amount deferred will be immediately charged to expense.

Amortization expense for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 was $357,966 and $22,631, respectively. Estimated 
amortization for intangible assets with definite lives for the next five years ending December 31 and thereafter is as follows:

Year ending December 31:
2022 (April 1, to December 31, 2022) $ 1,136,309
2023 1,435,974
2024 1,385,857
2025 1,299,751
2026 and thereafter 1,084,689

$ 6,342,580
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NOTE 11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

COVID-19 pandemic

The COVID-19 pandemic represents a fluid situation that presents a wide range of potential impacts of varying durations for 
different global geographies, including locations where we have offices, employees, customers, vendors and other suppliers and 
business partners.

Like most US-based businesses, the COVID-19 pandemic and efforts to mitigate the same began to have impacts on our 
business in March 2020. Since that time, the COVID-19 pandemic has dramatically impacted the global health and economic 
environment, including millions of confirmed cases, business slowdowns or shutdowns, labor shortages, supply chain challenges, 
changes in government spending and requirements, regulatory challenges, inflationary pressures and market volatility.

We operate within the complex integrated global supply chain for both vendors and customers. As the COVID-19 pandemic 
dissipates at varying times and rates in different regions around the world, there could be a prolonged negative impact on these global 
supply chains. Our ability to continue operations at specific facilities will be impacted by the interdependencies of the various 
participants of these global supply chains, which are largely beyond our direct control. A prolonged shut down of these global supply 
chains could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

If our suppliers have increased challenges with their workforce (including as a result of illness, absenteeism, reactions to health 
and safety or government requirements), facility closures, timely access to necessary components, materials and other supplies at 
reasonable prices, access to capital, and access to fundamental support services (such as shipping and transportation), they may be 
unable to provide the agreed-upon goods and services in a timely, compliant and cost-effective manner. We have incurred and may in 
the future incur additional costs and delays in our business resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic, including as a result of higher 
prices, schedule delays or the need to identify and develop alternative suppliers. In some instances, we may be unable to identify and 
develop alternative suppliers, incurring additional liabilities under our current contracts and hampering new ones. Our customers have 
experienced, and may continue to experience, disruptions in their operations and supply chains as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, 
which can result in delayed, reduced, or canceled orders, or collection risks, and which may adversely affect our results of operations. 
Similarly, current, and future restrictions or disruptions of transportation, such as reduced availability of air transport, port closures or 
delays, and increased border controls, delays or closures, can also impact our ability to meet demand and could materially adversely 
affect us.

The spread of COVID-19 caused us to modify our business practices (including employee travel, employee work locations, 
cancellation of physical participation in meetings, events and conferences, and social distancing measures). To date, we have eased 
many of these modifications. However, we may in the future reinstitute the same or similar changes or take further actions as may be 
required by government authorities or that we determine are in the best interests of our employees, customers, partners, vendors, and 
suppliers. Although we managed to continue most of our operations, the future course of the COVID-19 pandemic is uncertain and we 
cannot assure that this global pandemic, including its economic impact, will not have a material adverse impact on our business, 
financial position, results of operations and/or cash flows.

Litigation

From time to time, we are notified that we may be a party to a lawsuit or that a claim is being made against us. It is our policy 
to not disclose the specifics of any claim or threatened lawsuit until the summons and complaint are actually served on us. After 
carefully assessing the claim, and assuming we determine that we are not at fault or we disagree with the damages or relief demanded, 
we vigorously defend any lawsuit filed against us. We record a liability when losses are deemed probable and reasonably estimable. 
When losses are deemed reasonably possible but not probable, we determine whether it is possible to provide an estimate of the amount 
of the loss or range of possible losses for the claim, if material for disclosure. In evaluating matters for accrual and disclosure purposes, 
we take into consideration factors such as our historical experience with matters of a similar nature, the specific facts and circumstances 
asserted, the likelihood of our prevailing, the availability of insurance, and the severity of any potential loss. We re-evaluate and update 
accruals as matters progress over time.

While the ultimate resolutions are unknown, based on the information currently available, we do not expect that these lawsuits 
will individually, or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect to our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. 
However, the outcome of any litigation is inherently uncertain and there can be no assurance that any expense, liability or damages that 
may ultimately result from the resolution of these matters will be covered by our insurance or will not be in excess of amounts 
recognized or provided by insurance coverage and will not have a material adverse effect on our operating results, financial condition or 
cash flows.
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NOTE 12. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company recorded pre-tax compensation expense related to the grant of stock options and restricted stock issued of 
$394,749 and $326,164 for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

As of March 31, 2022, the Company had adopted nine separate stock option and restricted stock plans: (i) the 2005 Stock 
Option and Restricted Stock Plan (the “2005 Plan”), (ii) the 2006 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan (the “2006 Plan”), (iii) the 
2007 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan (the “2007 Plan”), (iv) the 2008 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan (the “2008 Plan”), 
(v) the 2011 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan (the “2011 Plan”), (vi) the 2013 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan (the “2013 
Plan”), (vii) the 2015 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan (the “2015 Plan”), (viii) the 2018 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan 
(the “2018 Plan”) and (ix) the 2020 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan (the “2020 Plan”). The 2005 Plan, 2006 Plan, 2007 Plan, 
2008 Plan, 2011 Plan, 2013 Plan, 2015 Plan, 2018 Plan and 2020 Plan are referred to as the “Plans.”

These Plans permit the grant of stock options or restricted stock to the Company’s employees, non-employee directors and 
others for up to a total of 6,675,000 shares of common stock. The 2005 Plan terminated during 2015 with 21,553 shares not awarded or 
underlying options, which shares are now unavailable for issuance. Stock options granted under the 2005 Plan that remain unexercised 
and outstanding as of March 31, 2022 total 5,689. The 2006 Plan terminated during 2016 with 54,787 shares not awarded or underlying 
options, which shares are now unavailable for issuance. Stock options granted under the 2006 Plan that remain unexercised and 
outstanding as of March 31, 2022 total 10,625. The 2007 Plan terminated during 2017 with 94,651 shares not awarded or underlying 
options, which shares are now unavailable for issuance. There are no stock options granted under the 2007 Plan that remain unexercised 
and outstanding as of March 31, 2022. The 2008 Plan terminated during 2018 with 40,499 shares not awarded or underlying options, 
which shares are now unavailable for issuance. There were no stock options granted under the 2008 Plan that remain unexercised and 
outstanding as of March 31, 2022.

The Company believes that such awards better align the interests of our employees with those of its stockholders.

Stock option grants. The Board of Directors has granted stock options under the Plans. These option awards have been granted 
with an exercise price equal to the market price of the Company’s stock at the date of grant with such option awards generally vesting 
based on the completion of continuous service and having ten-year contractual terms. These option awards typically provide for 
accelerated vesting if there is a change in control (as defined in the Plans). The Company has registered all shares of common stock that 
are issuable under its Plans with the SEC. A total of 190,845 shares remained available for awards under the various Plans as of March 
31, 2022.

The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option valuation model.

A summary of all stock option activity under the Plans for the three months ended March 31, 2022 is as follows:

Options
Number of

Shares

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price
Outstanding at December 31, 2021 1,086,063 $ 2.37

Granted 25,000 0.98
Exercised — —
Forfeited (15,000) (4.80)

Outstanding at March 31, 2022 1,096,063 $ 2.31
Exercisable at March 31, 2022 1,008,563 $ 2.37
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The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option valuation model. The total 
estimated grant date fair value stock options issued during the three months ended March 31, 2022 was $22,768. Following are certain 
estimates and assumptions utilized as of the issuance date to determine the grant-date fair value of the stock options issued during 2022:

Volatility – range 111.67%
Risk-free rate 1.8%
Contractual term 10.0 years
Exercise price $ 0.98

The Plans allow for the cashless exercise of stock options. This provision allows the option holder to surrender/cancel options 
with an intrinsic value equivalent to the purchase/exercise price of other options exercised. There were no shares surrendered pursuant to 
cashless exercises during the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021.

The aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding was $2,750 and $-0-, at March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, 
respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercisable was $1,375 and $-0-, at March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, 
respectively.

As of March 31, 2022, the unrecognized portion of stock compensation expense on all existing stock options was $127,814 and 
will be recognized over the next 3 months.

The following table summarizes the range of exercise prices and weighted average remaining contractual life for outstanding 
and exercisable options under the Company’s option plans as of March 31, 2022:

Outstanding options Exercisable options

Exercise price
range

Number of
options

Weighted average
remaining

contractual life
Number of

options

Weighted average
remaining

contractual life

$ 0.01 to $2.49 740,000 8.4 years 652,500 8.2 years
$ 2.50 to $3.49 310,314 6.1 years 310,314 6.1 years
$ 3.50 to $4.49 45,750 2.9 years 45,750 2.9 years

1,096,064 7.5 years 1,008,564 7.3 years

Restricted stock grants. The Board of Directors has granted restricted stock awards under the Plans. Restricted stock awards 
are valued on the date of grant and have no purchase price for the recipient. Restricted stock awards typically vest over one to five years 
corresponding to anniversaries of the grant date. Under the Plans, unvested shares of restricted stock awards may be forfeited upon the 
termination of service to or employment with the Company, depending upon the circumstances of termination. Except for restrictions 
placed on the transferability of restricted stock, holders of unvested restricted stock have full stockholder’s rights, including voting 
rights and the right to receive cash dividends.

A summary of all restricted stock activity under the Plans for the three months ended March 31, 2022 is as follows:

Number of 
Restricted

shares

Weighted
average

grant date fair
value

Nonvested balance, December 31, 2021 1,057,375 $ 1.87
Granted 715,000 1.07
Vested (463,375) (1.89)
Forfeited (15,000) (1.26)

Nonvested balance, March 31, 2022 1,294,000 $ 1.43
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The Company estimated the fair market value of these restricted stock grants based on the closing market price on the date of 
grant. As of March 31, 2022, there were $1,180,036 of total unrecognized compensation costs related to all remaining non-vested 
restricted stock grants, which will be amortized over the next fifty-eight months in accordance with their respective vesting scale.

The nonvested balance of restricted stock vests as follows:

Years ended
Number of

shares

2022 (April 1, 2022 through December 31, 2022) 119,500
2023 668,000
2024 294,000
2025 90,000
2026 82,500
2027 40,000

NOTE 13. COMMON STOCK PURCHASE WARRANTS

The Company has issued common stock purchase warrants in conjunction with various debt and equity issuances. The warrants 
are either immediately exercisable or have a delayed initial exercise date, no more than six months from their respective issue date and 
allow the holders to purchase up to 25,841,931 shares of common stock at $2.60 to $3.75 per share as of March 31, 2022. The warrants 
expire from June 30, 2022 through September 18, 2026 and under certain circumstances allow for cashless exercise.

On January 14, 2021 and February 1, 2021, the Company issued warrants to purchase a total of 42,550,000 shares of common 
stock. The warrants issued on January 14, 2021 consist of (i) pre-funded warrants to purchase up to 7,200,000 shares of common stock 
and (ii) common stock purchase warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 10,000,000 shares of common stock. The warrants issued on 
February 1, 2021 consist of (i) pre-funded warrants to purchase up to 11,050,000 shares of common stock and (ii) common stock 
purchase warrants (“February Warrants”) to purchase up to an aggregate of 14,300,000 shares of common stock. The warrant terms 
provide for net cash settlement outside the control of the Company under certain circumstances in the event of tender offers. As such, 
the Company is required to treat these warrants as derivative liabilities which are valued at their estimated fair value at their issuance 
date and at each reporting date with any subsequent changes reported in the consolidated statements of operations as the change in fair 
value of warrant derivative liabilities. Furthermore, the Company re-values the fair value of warrant derivative liability as of the date the 
warrant is exercised with the resulting warrant derivative liability transitioned to change in fair value of warrant derivative liabilities 
through the consolidated statement of operations.

On August 19, 2021, the Company entered into a Warrant Exchange Agreement (the “Exchange Agreement”) with certain 
investors cancelling February Warrants exercisable for an aggregate of 7,681,540 shares of common stock in consideration for its 
issuance of new warrants (the “Exchange Warrants”) to such investors, exercisable for an aggregate of up to 7,681,540 shares of 
common stock. The Company also issued warrants (the “Replacement Original Warrants”) replacing the February Warrants for the 
remaining shares of common stock exercisable thereunder, representing an aggregate of 6,618,460 shares of common stock, and 
extended the expiration date of the February Warrants to September 18, 2026. The Exchange Warrants provide for an initial exercise 
price of $3.25 per share, subject to customary adjustments thereunder, and are immediately exercisable upon issuance for cash and on a 
cashless basis. On the date of the exchange, the Company calculated the fair value, using the Black-Scholes method, of the cancelled 
February Warrants and the newly issued Exchange Warrants, the difference in fair value measurement of the respective warrants was 
attributed to warrant modification expense in the consolidated statement of operations.

On the date of the exchange, the cancelled February Warrants and Exchange Warrants were valued at $11,818,644 and 
$12,114,424 using the original and modified expiry date of the warrants, respectively, using the Black-Scholes method. The difference 
of $295,780 was accordingly recorded as a warrant modification expense in the consolidated statement of operations during 2021.

Original terms at 
August 19, 2021

Modified terms at 
August 19, 2021

Volatility - range 109.3% 104.7%
Risk-free rate 0.78% 0.78%
Dividend 0% 0%
Remaining contractual term 4.5 years 5.1 years
Exercise price $ 3.25 $ 3.25
Common stock issuable under the warrants 14,300,000 14,300,000
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Fluctuations in the Company’s stock price is a primary driver for the changes in the derivative valuations during each reporting 
period. As the stock price increases for each of the related derivative instruments, the value to the holder of the instrument generally 
increases, therefore increasing the liability on the Company’s balance sheet. Additionally, stock price volatility is one of the significant 
unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of each of the Company’s derivative instruments. The simulated fair value of 
these liabilities is sensitive to changes in the Company’s expected volatility. Increases in expected volatility would generally result in 
higher fair value measurement. A 10% change in pricing inputs and changes in volatilities and correlation factors would not result in a 
material change in our Level 3 fair value.

The Company has utilized the following assumptions in its Black-Scholes option valuation model to calculate the estimated fair 
value of the warrant derivative liabilities as of their date of issuance and as of March 31, 2022:

Issuance date 
assumptions

March 31, 2022 
assumptions

Volatility - range 106.6 – 166.6% 104.1%
Risk-free rate 0.08 - 0.49% 2.42%
Dividend 0% 0%
Remaining contractual term 0.01 - 5 years 3.8 – 4.5 years
Exercise price $ 2.80 - 3.25 $ 3.25
Common stock issuable under the warrants 42,550,000 24,300,000

The following table summarizes information about shares issuable under warrants outstanding during the three months ended 
March 31, 2022:

Warrants

Weighted
average

exercise price
Vested Balance, January 1, 2022 26,008,598 $ 3.24

Granted — —
Exercised — —
Forfeited/cancelled (166,667) 3.36

Vested Balance, March 31, 2022 25,841,931 $ 3.24

The total intrinsic value of all outstanding warrants aggregated $-0- as of March 31, 2022, and the weighted average remaining 
term is 48 months.

The following table summarizes the range of exercise prices and weighted average remaining contractual life for outstanding 
and exercisable warrants to purchase shares of common stock as of March 31, 2022:

Outstanding and exercisable warrants

Exercise price Number of warrants

Weighted average
remaining

contractual life
$ 2.60 465,712 1.3 years
$ 3.00 316,800 1.0 years
$ 3.25 24,300,000 4.2 years
$ 3.36 566,666 0.9 years
$ 3.65 167,000 0.3 years
$ 3.75 25,753 0.4 years

25,841,931 4.0 years
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NOTE 14. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

2022 Issuance of Restricted Common Stock

On January 7, 2022, the board of directors approved the grant of 525,000 shares of common stock to officers of the Company. 
Such shares will generally vest over a period of one to five years on their respective anniversary dates in January through January 2027, 
provided that each grantee remains an officer or employee on such dates.

On March 23, 2022, the board of directors approved the grant of 190,000 restricted common shares to certain new employees 
of the Company. A total of 5,000 shares vested immediately upon issuance and the remainder vest over a period of one to five years. 
Such shares will generally vest over a period of one to five years on their respective anniversary dates in January through January 2027, 
provided that each grantee remains an employee on such dates.

Cancellation of Restricted Stock

During the quarter ended March 31, 2022, the Company cancelled 15,000 restricted shares of common stock due to forfeiture 
reasons.

Stock Repurchase Program

On December 6, 2021, the board of directors of the Company authorized the repurchase of up to $10.0 million of the 
Company’s outstanding common stock under the specified terms of a share repurchase program (the “Program”). During the three 
months ended March 31, 2022, the Company repurchased 1,876,034 shares of its common stock for $2,063,768, in accordance with the 
Program. The Program does not obligate the Company to acquire any specific number of shares and shares may be repurchased in 
privately negotiated and/or open market transactions, including under plans complying with Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”).

Period

Total Number 
of

Shares
Purchased

Average Price 
Paid per 
Shares

Total Number 
of 

Shares 
Purchased as

Part of 
Publicly

Announced 
Program

Maximum 
Approximate 

Dollar Value of
Shares that 
May Yet Be
Purchased 
Under the
Program

December 2021 1,734,838 $ 1.14 1,734,838 —
January 2022 697,093 1.11 697,093 —
February 2022 692,984 1.12 692,984 —
March 2022 485,957 1.06 485,957 —

Total all plans 3,610,872 $ 1.12 3,610,872 $ 5,961,153

Noncontrolling Interests

The Company owns a 51% equity interest in its consolidated subsidiary, Nobility Healthcare. As a result, the noncontrolling 
shareholders or minority interest is allocated 49% of the income/loss of Nobility Healthcare which is reflected in the statement of 
(income) loss as “net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests of consolidated subsidiary”. We reported net loss attributable 
to noncontrolling interests of consolidated subsidiary of $98,094 and $-0- for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, 
respectively.

29



NOTE 15. NET EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of the weighted average number of shares outstanding and loss per share outstanding for the three months 
ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

Three months ended
March 31,

2022 2021
Numerator for basic and diluted income (loss) per share 
– Net income (loss) $ (6,600,148) $ 21,721,858

Denominator for basic income (loss) per share – 
weighted average shares outstanding 50,931,047 44,766,135
Dilutive effect of shares issuable upon conversion of 
convertible debt and the exercise of stock options and 
warrants outstanding — —

Denominator for diluted income (loss) per share – 
adjusted weighted average shares outstanding 50,931,047 44,766,135

Net income (loss) per share:
Basic $ (0.13) $ 0.49
Diluted $ (0.13) $ 0.49

Basic income (loss) per share is based upon the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. For 
the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, all shares issuable upon conversion of convertible debt and the exercise of 
outstanding stock options and warrants were antidilutive and, therefore, not included in the computation of diluted income (loss) per 
share.

NOTE 16. DIGITAL ALLY HEALTHCARE VENTURE

On June 4, 2021, Digital Ally Healthcare, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a venture with Nobility 
LLC (“Nobility”), an eight-year-old revenue cycle management (“RCM”) company servicing the medical industry, to form Nobility 
Healthcare, LLC (“Nobility Healthcare”). Digital Ally Healthcare is capitalizing the venture with $13.5 million to support the venture’s 
business strategy to make acquisitions of RCM companies. Digital Ally Healthcare owns 51% of the venture that entitles it to 51% of 
the distributable cash as defined in the venture’s operating agreement plus a cumulative preferred return of 10% per annum on its 
invested capital. Nobility will receive a management fee and 49% of the distributable cash, subordinated to Digital Ally Healthcare’s 
preferred return. The venture comprises the Company’s revenue cycle management segment.

On June 30, 2021, the Company’s revenue cycle management segment completed the acquisition of a private medical billing 
company (the “Healthcare Acquisition”). In accordance with the stock purchase agreement, the Company’s revenue cycle management 
segment agreed to a non-refundable initial payment (the “Initial Payment Amount”) of $850,000. In addition to the Initial Payment 
Amount, the Company’s revenue cycle management segment agreed to issue a promissory note to the stockholders of the Healthcare 
Acquisition in the principal amount of $350,000 that is subject to an earn-out adjustment. Management’s estimate of the fair value of 
this contingent promissory note at December 31, 2021 is $317,212. The gain associated with the adjustment in the estimated fair value 
of this contingent promissory note is recorded as a gain in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year ended December 31, 
2021. Lastly, the Company’s revenue cycle management segment agreed to pay $162,552 representing the principal and accrued interest 
balance due under a promissory note issued to the selling shareholders prior to the acquisition closing date. The Company’s revenue 
cycle management segment anticipates the estimated fair value of the contingent promissory note to be paid in full and, therefore, the 
total aggregate purchase price was determined to be approximately $1,376,509. Total acquisition related costs aggregated $164,630, 
which was expensed as incurred. Subsequent to the acquisition date, the Company received further information regarding the purchased 
assets and assumed liabilities. As a result, the initial allocation of the purchase price was adjusted by increasing accounts receivable by 
$75,000 with a corresponding reduction of goodwill during the year ended December 31, 2021.
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The Company accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method and that the Company has early adopted the 
amendments of Regulation S-X dated May 21, 2020 and has concluded that this acquisition was not significant. Accordingly, the 
presentation of the assets acquired, historical financial statements under Rule 3-05 and related pro forma information under Article 11 of 
Regulation S-X, respectively, are not required to be presented. Under the acquisition method, the purchase price of the Healthcare 
Acquisition has been allocated to the acquired tangible and identifiable intangible assets and assumed liabilities based on their estimated 
fair values at the time of the Healthcare Acquisition. This allocation involves a number of assumptions, estimates, and judgments that 
could materially affect the timing or amounts recognized in our financial statements. Our assumptions and estimates are based upon 
information obtained from the management of the Company’s revenue cycle management segment. The acquisition was structured as 
stock purchase, therefore the excess purchase price over the fair value of net tangible assets acquired was recorded as goodwill, which 
will not be amortized for income tax filing purposes. The results of operations of acquired businesses are included in the consolidated 
financial statements from the acquisition date.

The purchase price of the Healthcare Acquisition was allocated to the tangible assets, and assumed liabilities based on their 
preliminary estimated fair values at the time of the Healthcare Acquisition. The Company expects to retain the services of independent 
valuation firm to determine the fair value of these identifiable intangible assets. Once determined, the Company will reallocate the 
purchase price of the acquisition based on the results of the independent evaluation if they are materially different from the allocations 
as recorded on June 30, 2021. The preliminary estimated fair value of assets acquired, and liabilities assumed in the Healthcare 
Acquisition were as follows:

Description Amount
Assets acquired:

Tangible assets acquired, consisting of acquired cash, accounts receivable and right of use asset $ 174,351
Goodwill 1,125,000
Liabilities assumed consisting of a promissory note issued by the selling shareholders which was paid off at 
closing, net of lease liability assumed 77,158
Total assets acquired and liabilities assumed $ 1,376,509

Consideration:
Cash paid at Healthcare Acquisition date $ 1,026,509
Contingent consideration promissory note 350,000

Total Healthcare Acquisition purchase price $ 1,376,509

During the measurement period (which is the period required to obtain all necessary information that existed at the acquisition 
date, or to conclude that such information is unavailable, not to exceed one year), additional assets or liabilities may be recognized, or 
there could be changes to the amounts of assets or liabilities previously recognized on a preliminary basis, if new information is 
obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have resulted in the recognition of 
these assets or liabilities as of that date. The change in fair value of the contingent consideration is more fully described in Note 3, “Debt 
Obligations”.

On August 31, 2021, the Company’s revenue cycle management segment completed the acquisition of another private medical 
billing company (the “Medical Billing Acquisition”). In accordance with the stock purchase agreement, Nobility Healthcare agreed to a 
non-refundable initial payment (the “Initial Payment Amount”) of $2,270,000. In addition to the Initial Payment Amount, the 
Company’s revenue cycle management segment agreed to issue a contingent promissory note to the stockholders of the Medical Billing 
Acquisition in the principal amount of $650,000 that is subject to an earn-out adjustment. The Company’s revenue cycle management 
segment anticipates the estimated fair value of the contingent promissory note to be paid in full, therefore, the total aggregate purchase 
price was determined to be approximately $2,920,000. Total acquisition related costs aggregated $5,602, which was expensed as 
incurred.
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The Company accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method and that the Company has early adopted the 
amendments of Regulation S-X dated May 21, 2020 and has concluded that this acquisition was not significant. Accordingly, the 
presentation of the assets acquired, historical financial statements under Rule 3-05 and related pro forma information under Article 11 of 
Regulation S-X, respectively, are not required to be presented. Under the acquisition method, the purchase price of the Medical Billing 
Acquisition has been allocated to the acquired tangible and identifiable intangible assets and assumed liabilities based on their estimated 
fair values at the time of the Medical Billing Acquisition. This allocation involves a number of assumptions, estimates, and judgments 
that could materially affect the timing or amounts recognized in our financial statements. The acquisition was structured as stock 
purchase, therefore the excess purchase price over the fair value of net tangible assets acquired was recorded as goodwill, which will not 
be amortized for income tax filing purposes. The results of operations of acquired businesses are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the acquisition date.

The purchase price of the Medical Billing Acquisition was allocated to the tangible assets, and assumed liabilities based on 
their preliminary estimated fair values at the time of the Medical Billing Acquisition. The Company expects to retain the services of 
independent valuation firm to determine the fair value of these identifiable intangible assets. Once determined, the Company will 
reallocate the purchase price of the acquisition based on the results of the independent evaluation if they are materially different from the 
allocations as recorded on August 31, 2021. The preliminary estimated fair value of assets acquired, and liabilities assumed in the 
Medical Billing Acquisition were as follows:

Description Amount
Assets acquired:

Tangible assets acquired $ 401,547
Goodwill 2,920,000
Liabilities assumed pursuant to stock purchase agreement (401,547)
Total assets acquired and liabilities assumed $ 2,920,000

Consideration:
Cash paid at acquisition date $ 2,270,000
Contingent consideration promissory note 650,000

Total acquisition purchase price $ 2,920,000

During the measurement period (which is the period required to obtain all necessary information that existed at the acquisition 
date, or to conclude that such information is unavailable, not to exceed one year), additional assets or liabilities may be recognized, or 
there could be changes to the amounts of assets or liabilities previously recognized on a preliminary basis, if new information is 
obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have resulted in the recognition of 
these assets or liabilities as of that date. The change in fair value of the contingent consideration is more fully described in Note 3, “Debt 
Obligations”.

On January 1, 2022, the Company’s revenue cycle management segment completed the acquisition of another private medical 
billing company (the “Medical Billing Acquisition”). In accordance with the stock purchase agreement, Nobility Healthcare agreed to a 
non-refundable initial payment (the “Initial Payment Amount”) of $1,153,626. In addition to the Initial Payment Amount, the 
Company’s revenue cycle management segment agreed to issue a contingent promissory note to the stockholders of the Medical Billing 
Acquisition in the principal amount of $750,000 that is subject to an earn-out adjustment. The Company’s revenue cycle management 
segment anticipates the estimated fair value of the contingent promissory note to be paid in full, therefore, the total aggregate purchase 
price was determined to be approximately $1,903,626. Total acquisition related costs aggregated $7,996, which was expensed as 
incurred.

The Company accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method and that the Company has early adopted the 
amendments of Regulation S-X dated May 21, 2020 and has concluded that this acquisition was not significant. Accordingly, the 
presentation of the assets acquired, historical financial statements under Rule 3-05 and related pro forma information under Article 11 of 
Regulation S-X, respectively, are not required to be presented. Under the acquisition method, the purchase price of the Medical Billing 
Acquisition has been allocated to the acquired tangible and identifiable intangible assets and assumed liabilities based on their estimated 
fair values at the time of the Medical Billing Acquisition. This allocation involves a number of assumptions, estimates, and judgments 
that could materially affect the timing or amounts recognized in our financial statements. The acquisition was structured as stock 
purchase, therefore the excess purchase price over the fair value of net tangible assets acquired was recorded as goodwill, which will not 
be amortized for income tax filing purposes. The results of operations of acquired businesses are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the acquisition date.
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The purchase price of the Medical Billing Acquisition was allocated to the tangible assets, and assumed liabilities based on 
their preliminary estimated fair values at the time of the Medical Billing Acquisition. The Company expects to retain the services of 
independent valuation firm to determine the fair value of these identifiable intangible assets. Once determined, the Company will 
reallocate the purchase price of the acquisition based on the results of the independent evaluation if they are materially different from the 
allocations as recorded on January 1, 2022. The preliminary estimated fair value of assets acquired, and liabilities assumed in the 
Medical Billing Acquisition were as follows:

Description Amount
Assets acquired:

Tangible assets acquired $ 190,631
Goodwill 2,100,000
Liabilities assumed pursuant to stock purchase agreement (387,005)
Total assets acquired and liabilities assumed $ 1,903,626

Consideration:
Cash paid at acquisition date $ 1,153,626
Contingent consideration promissory note 750,000

Total acquisition purchase price $ 1,903,626

During the measurement period (which is the period required to obtain all necessary information that existed at the acquisition 
date, or to conclude that such information is unavailable, not to exceed one year), additional assets or liabilities may be recognized, or 
there could be changes to the amounts of assets or liabilities previously recognized on a preliminary basis, if new information is 
obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have resulted in the recognition of 
these assets or liabilities as of that date. The change in fair value of the contingent consideration is more fully described in Note 3, “Debt 
Obligations”.

On February 1, 2022, the Company’s revenue cycle management segment completed an asset acquisition from another private 
medical billing company (the “Medical Billing Asset Acquisition”). In accordance with the asset purchase agreement, Nobility 
Healthcare agreed to a non-refundable initial payment (the “Initial Payment Amount”) of $230,000. In addition to the Initial Payment 
Amount, the Company’s revenue cycle management segment agreed to issue a contingent promissory note to the stockholders of the 
Medical Billing Asset Acquisition in the principal amount of $105,000 that is subject to an earn-out adjustment. The Company’s 
revenue cycle management segment anticipates the estimated fair value of the contingent promissory note to be paid in full, therefore, 
the total aggregate purchase price was determined to be approximately $335,000. Total acquisition related costs aggregated $10,322, 
which was expensed as incurred.
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In accordance ASC 805, “Business Combinations”, the acquisition method of accounting is used, and recognition of the assets 
acquired is at fair value as of the acquisition dates. All acquisition costs were expensed as incurred. The consideration paid has been 
allocated to the assets acquired based on their estimated fair values at the acquisition date. The estimate of fair values for the intangible 
assets acquired were agreed to by both buyer and seller. The acquisition was structured as asset purchase and are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the acquisition date. The preliminary estimated fair value of intangible assets acquired in the 
Medical Billing Asset Acquisition were as follows:

Description Amount
Assets acquired:

Intangible assets acquired – Client Agreements $ 335,000
Total assets acquired and liabilities assumed $ 335,000

Consideration:
Cash paid at acquisition date $ 230,000
Contingent consideration promissory note 105,000

Total acquisition purchase price $ 335,000

The change in fair value of the contingent consideration is more fully described in Note 3, “Debt Obligations” and will be 
estimated on a quarterly basis.

NOTE 17. TICKETSMARTER ACQUISITION

On September 1, 2021, Digital Ally, Inc. formed TicketSmarter, Inc. (“TicketSmarter”), through which the Company 
completed the acquisition of Goody Tickets, LLC, a Kansas limited liability company (“Goody Tickets”) and TicketSmarter, LLC, a 
Kansas limited liability company (“TicketSmarter LLC”) (such acquisitions, collectively, the “TicketSmarter Acquisition”). 
TicketSmarter, Inc. comprises the Company’s ticketing business segment. In accordance with the stock purchase agreement, the 
Company agreed to an initial payment (the “Initial Payment Amount”) of $9,403,600 through a combination of cash and common stock. 
In addition to the Initial Payment Amount, the Company agreed to issue an earn-out agreement to the stockholders of Goody Tickets and 
TicketSmarter LLC in the contingent amount of $4,244,400 that is subject to an earn-out adjustment based on actual EBITDA achieved 
in 2021, of which the Company gave a fair value of $3,700,000 on the date of acquisition. However, following the completion of 2021, 
it was determined that the actual EBITDA threshold for any earn-out adjustment to be paid was not met. Thus, in accordance with U.S. 
GAAP, the fair value of the contingent earn-out is reduced to zero, and the associated gain related to this revaluation is recorded in our 
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2021. Lastly, included in the agreement, the Company agreed 
to place $500,000 in escrow, subject to a working capital adjustment based on actual working capital amounts on the acquisition date as 
defined in the agreement. This amount was subject to disbursement 45 days following the close of the acquisition. The parties completed 
the working capital adjustment resulting in the Company retaining $297,726 of the escrow amount with the $202,274 released to the 
sellers. The total acquisition related costs aggregated $40,625, which was expensed as incurred.

The Company accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method and that the Company has early adopted the 
amendments of Regulation S-X dated May 21, 2020 and has concluded that this acquisition was not significant. Accordingly, the 
presentation of the assets acquired, historical financial statements under Rule 3-05 and related pro forma information under Article 11 of 
Regulation S-X, respectively, are not required to be presented. Under the acquisition method, the purchase price of the TicketSmarter 
Acquisition has been allocated to Goody Tickets’ and TicketSmarter LLC’s acquired tangible and identifiable intangible assets and 
assumed liabilities based on their estimated fair values at the time of the TicketSmarter Acquisition. This allocation involves a number 
of assumptions, estimates, and judgments that could materially affect the timing or amounts recognized in our financial statements. The 
TicketSmarter Acquisition was structured as a stock purchase; however the parties agreed to coordinate the election to invoke IRS 
Section 338(h)(10) relative to this transaction for tax purposes. Therefore, the excess purchase price over the fair value of net tangible 
assets acquired was recorded as goodwill, which will be amortized over 15 years for income tax filing purposes. Likewise, the other 
acquired assets were stepped up to fair value and is deductible for income tax purposes. The results of operations of acquired businesses 
are included in the consolidated financial statements from the acquisition date.
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The purchase price of the TicketSmarter Acquisition was allocated to Goody Tickets’ and TicketSmarter LLC’s tangible assets, 
goodwill, identifiable intangible assets, and assumed liabilities based on their preliminary estimated fair values at the time of the 
TicketSmarter Acquisition. The Company retained the services of an independent valuation firm to determine the fair value of these 
identifiable intangible assets. The Company will continue to evaluate the fair value of the identified intangible assets. The preliminary 
estimated fair value of assets acquired, and liabilities assumed in the TicketSmarter Acquisition were as follows:

Preliminary purchase price
allocation

As allocated As allocated

Description
September 30,

2021
December 31,

2021
Assets acquired:

Tangible assets acquired, including $51,432 of cash acquired $ 7,139,930 $ 5,748,291
Identifiable intangible assets acquired — 6,800,000
Goodwill 11,839,308 5,886,547
Liabilities assumed (5,128,964) (5,128,964)
Net assets acquired and liabilities assumed $ 13,850,274 $ 13,305,874

Consideration:
Cash paid at TicketSmarter Acquisition date $ 8,413,240 $ 8,413,240
Common stock issued as consideration for TicketSmarter Acquisition at date of 
acquisition 990,360 990,360
Contingent consideration earn-out agreement 4,244,400 3,700,000
Cash paid at closing to escrow amount 500,000 500,000
Cash retained from escrow amount pursuant to settlement of working capital target (297,726) (297,726)

Total TicketSmarter Acquisition purchase price $ 13,850,274 $ 13,305,874

The following table sets forth the components of identifiable intangible assets acquired and their estimated useful lives in years as 
of the date of acquisition:

Cost

Amortization 
through 

March 31,
2022

Estimated
useful life

Identifiable intangible assets:
Trademarks $ 600,000 $ — indefinite
Sponsorship agreement network 5,600,000 653,333 5 years
Search engine optimization/content 600,000 87,500 4 years

$ 6,800,000 $ 740,833
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For the period from the date of the TicketSmarter Acquisition to December 31, 2021, the Company adjusted its preliminary fair 
value estimates and estimated useful lives based upon information obtained through December 31, 2021, which resulted in adjustments 
to the preliminary allocation of the purchase price. These adjustments primarily related to estimated identifiable intangible asset fair 
values (primarily related to the sponsorship agreement network), the estimated fair value of the contingent earn-out agreement liability 
and goodwill. There were no adjustments to the allocation of the purchase price during the three months ended March 31, 2022.

During the measurement period (which is the period required to obtain all necessary information that existed at the acquisition 
date, or to conclude that such information is unavailable, not to exceed one year), additional assets or liabilities may be recognized, or 
there could be changes to the amounts of assets or liabilities previously recognized on a preliminary basis, if new information is 
obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have resulted in the recognition of 
these assets or liabilities as of that date. The change in fair value of the contingent consideration is more fully described in Note 3, “Debt 
Obligations”.

NOTE 18. SEGMENT DATA

The accounting guidance on Segment Reporting establishes standards for reporting information regarding operating segments 
in annual financial statements and requires selected information of those segments to be presented in financial statements. Operating 
segments are identified as components of an enterprise for which separate discrete financial information is available for evaluation by 
the chief operating decision maker (the Company’s Chief Executive Officer or “CODM”) in making decisions on how to allocate 
resources and assess performance. The Company’s three operating segments are Video Solutions, Revenue Cycle Management, and 
Ticketing, each of which has specific personnel responsible for that business and reports to the CODM. Corporate expenses capture the 
Company’s corporate administrative activities, and is also to be reported in the segment information. The Company’s captive insurance 
subsidiary provides services to the Company’s other business segments and not to outside customers. Therefore, its operations are 
eliminated in consolidation and it is not considered a separate business segment for financial reporting purposes.

The Video Solutions Segment encompasses our law, commercial, and shield divisions. This segment includes both service and 
product revenues through our subscription models offering cloud and warranty solutions, and hardware sales for video and health safety 
solutions. The Revenue Cycle Management Segment provides working capital and back-office services to a variety of healthcare 
organizations throughout the country, as a monthly service fee. The Ticketing Segment acts as an intermediary between ticket buyers 
and sellers within our secondary ticketing platform, ticketsmarter.com, and we also acquire tickets from primary sellers to then sell 
through various platforms.

The Company’s corporate administration activities are reported in the corporate line item. These activities primarily include 
expense related to certain corporate officers and support staff, certain accounting staff, expense related to the Company’s Board of 
Directors, stock option expense for options granted to corporate administration employees, certain consulting expenses, investor 
relations activities, and a portion of the Company’s legal, auditing and professional fee expenses. Corporate identifiable assets primarily 
consist of cash, invested cash (if any), refundable income taxes (if any), and deferred income taxes.
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Summarized financial information for the Company’s reportable business segments is provided for the indicated periods and as 
of March 31, 2022, and March 31, 2021:

Three Months Ended March 31,
2022 2021

Net Revenues:
Video Solutions $ 2,010,049 $ 2,535,829
Revenue Cycle Management 1,903,957 —
Ticketing 6,380,775 —

Total Net Revenues $ 10,294,781 $ 2,535,829

Gross Profit:
Video Solutions $ 268,431 $ 811,882
Revenue Cycle Management 697,169 —
Ticketing 974,019 —

Total Gross Profit $ 1,939,619 $ 811,882

Operating Income (loss):
Video Solutions $ (1,658,144) $ (682,920)
Revenue Cycle Management (128,518) —
Ticketing (1,445,847) —
Corporate (3,570,829) (2,182,773)

Total Operating Income (Loss) $ (6,803,338) $ (2,865,693)

Depreciation and Amortization:
Video Solutions $ 174,066 $ 55,422
Revenue Cycle Management 146 —
Ticketing 319,183 —

Total Depreciation and Amortization $ 493,395 $ 55,422

March 31,
2022

December 31,
2021

Assets (net of eliminations):
Video Solutions $ 32,196,051 $ 25,983,348
Revenue Cycle Management 1,357,829 934,095
Ticketing 5,894,339 12,260,780
Corporate 39,577,799 43,810,974

Total Identifiable Assets $ 79,026,018 $ 82,989,197

The segments recorded noncash items effecting the gross profit and operating income (loss) through the established inventory 
reserves based on estimates of excess and/or obsolete current and non-current inventory. The Company recorded a reserve for excess 
and obsolete inventory in the video solutions segment of $3,334,829 and a reserve for the ticketing segment of $561,631.

The segment net revenues reported above represent sales to external customers. Segment gross profit represents net revenues 
less cost of revenues. Segment operating income, which is used in management’s evaluation of segment performance, represents net 
revenues, less cost of revenues, less all operating expenses. Identifiable assets are those assets used by each segment in its operations. 
Corporate assets primarily consist of cash, property, plant and equipment, accounts receivable, inventories, and other assets.

NOTE 19. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions with Managing Member of Nobility Healthcare

Nobility, LLC is currently the managing member of Nobility Healthcare, LLC. The Company has advanced a total of $158,384 
in the form of a working capital loan to Nobility, LLC in order to fund capital expenditures necessary for the initial growth of the joint 
venture during 2021. The outstanding balance of the working capital loan was $158,384 as of March 31, 2022 and the Company 
anticipates full repayment of this advance during the year ended December 31, 2022. During the three months ended March 31, 2022, 
the Company paid distributions to the noncontrolling in consolidated subsidiary totaling $15,692.

NOTE 20. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Stock Repurchase Program

On December 6, 2021, the Board of Directors of the Company authorized the repurchase of up to $10.0 million of the 
Company’s outstanding common stock under the specified terms of a share repurchase program (the “Program”). Subsequent to March 
31, 2022, the Company repurchased 1,280,387 shares of its common stock for $1,415,382, in accordance with the Program. The 
Program does not obligate the Company to acquire any specific number of shares and shares may be repurchased in privately negotiated 
and/or open market transactions, including under plans complying with Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act.

*************************************
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation.

This quarterly report on Form 10-Q (the “Report”) of Digital Ally, Inc. (the “Company”, “we”, “us”, or “our”) contains 
forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). The words “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “estimate,” 
“may,” “should,” “could,” “will,” “plan,” “future,” “continue,” and other expressions that are predictions of or indicate future events and 
trends and that do not relate to historical matters identify forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are based 
largely on our expectations or forecasts of future events, can be affected by inaccurate assumptions, and are subject to various business 
risks and known and unknown uncertainties, a number of which are beyond our control. Therefore, actual results could differ materially 
from the forward-looking statements contained in this document, and readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-
looking statements.

We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new 
information, future events or otherwise. A wide variety of factors could cause or contribute to such differences and could adversely 
impact revenues, profitability, cash flows and capital needs. There can be no assurance that the forward-looking statements contained in 
this document will, in fact, transpire or prove to be accurate.

Factors that could cause or contribute to our actual results differing materially from those discussed herein or for our stock 
price to be adversely affected include, but are not limited to: (1) our losses in recent years, including during fiscal 2020 and 2019; (2) 
economic and other risks for our business from the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, including the impacts on our law-enforcement 
and commercial customers, suppliers and employees and on our ability to raise capital as required; (3) our ability to increase revenues, 
increase our margins and return to consistent profitability in the current economic and competitive environment; (4) our operation in 
developing markets and uncertainty as to market acceptance of our technology and new products; (5) the availability of funding from 
federal, state and local governments to facilitate the budgets of law enforcement agencies, including the timing, amount and restrictions 
on such funding; (6) our ability to deliver our new product offerings, such as the Shield™ disinfectant/sanitizers products and 
ThermoVU™ temperature screening systems, whether such new products perform as planned or advertised and whether they will help 
increase our revenues, particularly as the COVID-19 pandemic begins to subside; (7) whether we will be able to increase the sales, 
domestically and internationally, for our products in the future; (8) our ability to maintain or expand our share of the market for our 
products in the domestic and international markets in which we compete, including increasing our international revenues; (9) our ability 
to produce our products in a cost-effective manner; (10) competition from larger, more established companies with far greater economic 
and human resources; (11) our ability to attract and retain quality employees; (12) risks related to dealing with governmental entities as 
customers; (13) our expenditure of significant resources in anticipation of sales due to our lengthy sales cycle and the potential to 
receive no revenue in return; (14) characterization of our market by new products and rapid technological change; (15) our dependence 
on sales of our EVO-HD, DVM-800, DVM-250 and FirstVU products; (16) that stockholders may lose all or part of their investment if 
we are unable to compete in our markets and return to profitability; (17) defects in our products that could impair our ability to sell our 
products or could result in litigation and other significant costs; (18) our dependence on key personnel; (19) our reliance on third-party 
distributors and sales representatives for part of our marketing capability; (20) our dependence on a few manufacturers and suppliers for 
components of our products and our dependence on domestic and foreign manufacturers for certain of our products; (21) our ability to 
protect technology through patents and to protect our proprietary technology and information, such as trade secrets, through other 
similar means; (22) our ability to generate more recurring cloud and service revenues; (23) risks related to our license arrangements; 
(24) the fluctuation of our operation results from quarter to quarter; (25) sufficient voting power by coalitions of a few of our larger 
stockholders, including directors and officers, to make corporate governance decisions that could have a significant effect on us and the 
other stockholders; (26) the issuance or sale of substantial amounts of our common stock, or the perception that such sales may occur in 
the future, which may have a depressive effect on the market price of our securities; (27) potential dilution from the issuance of common 
stock underlying outstanding options and warrants; (28) our additional securities available for issuance, which, if issued, could adversely 
affect the rights of the holders of our common stock; (29) the volatility of our stock price due to a number of factors, including, but not 
limited to, a relatively limited public float; and (30) our ability to integrate and realize the anticipated benefits from acquisitions.
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Current Trends and Recent Developments for the Company

Segment Overview

Video Solutions Operating Segment – Within our video solutions operating segment we supply technology-based products 
utilizing our portable digital video and audio recording capabilities for the law enforcement and security industries and for the 
commercial fleet and mass transit markets. We have the ability to integrate electronic, radio, computer, mechanical, and multi-media 
technologies to create positive solutions to our customers’ requests. Our products include: the EVO-HD, DVM-800 and DVM-800 Lite, 
which are in-car digital video systems for law enforcement and commercial markets; the FirstVu body-worn camera line, consisting of 
the FirstVu Pro, FirstVu II, and the FirstVu HD; our patented and revolutionary VuLink product which integrates our body-worn 
cameras with our in-car systems by providing hands-free automatic activation for both law enforcement and commercial markets; the 
FLT-250, DVM-250, and DVM-250 Plus, which are our commercial line of digital video mirrors that serve as “event recorders” for the 
commercial fleet and mass transit markets; and FleetVu and VuLink, which are our cloud-based evidence management systems. We 
further diversified and broadened our product offerings in 2020, by introducing two new lines of branded products: (1) the ThermoVu® 
which is a line of self-contained temperature monitoring stations that provides alerts and controls facility access when an individual’s 
temperature exceeds a pre-set threshold and (2) our Shield™ disinfectants and cleansers which are for use against viruses and bacteria. 
We began offering our Shield™ disinfectants and cleansers to our law enforcement and commercial customers late in the second quarter 
of 2020.

Our video solutions segment revenue encompasses video recording products and services for our law enforcement and 
commercial customers and the sale of Shield disinfectant and personal protective products. This segment generates revenues through our 
subscription models offering cloud and warranty solutions, and hardware sales for video and personal protective safety products and 
solutions. Revenues for product sales are recognized upon delivery of the product, and revenues from our cloud and warranty 
subscription plans are deferred over the term of the subscription, typically 3 or 5 years.

To judge the health of our video solutions segment, we review the current active subscriptions and deferred service revenues, 
along with the quantity and gross margins generated by our video solutions hardware sales.

Revenue Cycle Management Operating Segment - We have recently entered the revenue cycle management business late in 
the second quarter of 2021 with the formation of our wholly owned subsidiary, Digital Ally Healthcare, Inc. and its majority-owned 
subsidiary Nobility Healthcare. Nobility Healthcare completed its first acquisition on June 30, 2021, when it acquired a private medical 
billing company, and a second acquisition on August 31, 2021 upon the completion of its acquisition of another private medical billing 
company, along with two more acquisitions completed during the three months ended March 31, 2022, in which we assist in providing 
working capital and back-office services to healthcare organizations throughout the country. Our assistance consists of insurance and 
benefit verification, medical treatment documentation and coding, and collections. Through our expertise and experience in this field, 
we maximize our customers’ service revenues collected, leafing to substantial improvements in their operating margins and cash flows.

Our revenue cycle management segment consists of our medical billing subsidiaries. Revenues of this segment are recognized 
after we perform the obligations of our revenue cycle management services. Our revenue cycle management services are services, 
performed and charged monthly, generally based on a contractual percentage of total customer collections, for which we recognize our 
net service fees.

To judge the health of our revenue cycle management segment, we review the collection success rate and collection timing. In 
addition, we review the associated costs incurred to assist our customers, and any changes in operating margins and cash flows.

Ticketing Operating Segment - We have also recently entered into live entertainment and events ticketing services through 
the formation of our wholly owned subsidiary, TicketSmarter and its completed acquisitions of Goody Tickets, LLC and TicketSmarter, 
LLC, on September 1, 2021. TicketSmarter provides ticket sales, partnerships, and mainly, ticket resale services through its online 
ticketing marketplace for live events, TicketSmarter.com. TicketSmarter offers tickets for over 125,000 live events through its platform, 
for a wide range of events, including concerts, sporting events, theatres, and performing arts, throughout the country.

Our ticketing operating segment consists of ticketing services provided through TicketSmarter and its online platform, 
TicketSmarter.com. Revenues of this segment include ticketing service charges generally determined as a percentage of the face value 
of the underlying ticket and ticket sales from our ticket inventory which are recognized when the underlying tickets are sold. Ticketing 
direct expenses include the cost of tickets purchased for resale by the Company and held as inventory, credit card fees, ticketing 
platform expenses, website maintenance fees, along with other administrative costs.

To judge the health of our ticketing operating segment, we review the gross transaction value, which represents the total value 
related to a ticket sale and includes the face value of the ticket as well as the service charge. In addition, we review the number of visits 
to our websites, cost of customer acquisition, the purchase conversion rate, the overall number of customers in our database, and the 
number and percentage of tickets sold via the website and mobile app.
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Results of Operations

Summarized financial information for the Company’s reportable business segments is provided for the three months ended 
March 31, 2022, and 2021:

Three Months Ended March 31,
2022 2021

Net Revenues:
Video Solutions $ 2,010,049 $ 2,535,829
Revenue Cycle Management 1,903,957 —
Ticketing 6,380,775 —

Total Net Revenues $ 10,294,781 $ 2,535,829

Gross Profit:
Video Solutions $ 268,431 $ 811,882
Revenue Cycle Management 697,169 —
Ticketing 974,019 —

Total Gross Profit $ 1,939,619 $ 811,882

Operating Income (loss):
Video Solutions $ (1,658,144) $ (682,920)
Revenue Cycle Management (128,518) —
Ticketing (1,445,847) —
Corporate (3,570,829) (2,182,773)

Total Operating Income (Loss) $ (6,803,338) $ (2,865,693)

Depreciation and Amortization:
Video Solutions $ 174,066 $ 55,422
Revenue Cycle Management 146 —
Ticketing 319,183 —

Total Depreciation and Amortization $ 493,395 $ 55,422

March 31,
2022

December 31,
2021

Assets (net of eliminations):
Video Solutions $ 32,196,051 $ 25,983,348
Revenue Cycle Management 1,357,829 934,095
Ticketing 5,894,339 12,260,780
Corporate 39,577,799 43,810,974

Total Identifiable Assets $ 79,026,018 $ 82,989,197

Segment net revenues reported above represent only sales to external customers. Segment gross profit represents net revenues 
less cost of revenues. Segment operating income (loss), which is used in management’s evaluation of segment performance, represents 
net revenues, less cost of revenues, less all operating expenses. Identifiable assets are those assets used by each segment in its 
operations. Corporate assets primarily consist of cash, property, plant and equipment, accounts receivable, inventories, and other assets.

Consolidated Results of Operations

We experienced operating losses for the first quarter of 2022 and all quarters during 2021. The following is a summary of our 
recent operating results on a quarterly basis:

For the Three Months Ended:
March 31,

2022
December 31,

2021
September 30,

2021
June 30,

2021
March 31,

2021
Total revenue $10,294,781 $        11,744,112 $           4,639,822 $ 2,493,671 $ 2,535,829
Gross profit 1,939,619 2,190,523 1,400,570 1,260,800 811,882
Gross profit margin % 18.8% 18.7% 30.2% 50.6% 32.0%
Total selling, general and administrative 
expenses 8,742,957 7,869,883 4,999,543 3,877,684 3,677,575
Operating income (loss) (6,803,338) (5,679,360) (3,598,973) (2,616,884) (2,865,693)
Operating income (loss) % (66.1)% (48.4)% (77.6)% (104.9)% (113.0)%
Net income (loss) $ (6,698,242) $ 1,122,791 $ 8,068,799 $(5,382,487) $21,721,858
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Our business is subject to substantial fluctuations on a quarterly basis as reflected in the significant variations in revenues and 
operating results in the above table. These variations result from various factors, including but not limited to: (1) the timing of large 
individual orders; (2) the traction gained by products, such as the recently released FirstVu Pro, FirstVu II, FLT-250, EVO HD, the 
ThermoVu™ and the Shield™ lines; (3) production, quality and other supply chain issues affecting our cost of goods sold; (4) unusual 
increases in operating expenses, such as the timing of trade shows and stock-based and bonus compensation; (5) the timing of patent 
infringement litigation settlements (6) ongoing patent and other litigation and related expenses respecting outstanding lawsuits; (7) the 
impact of COVID-19 on the economy and our businesses; and (8) the completion of corporate acquisitions. We reported a net loss of 
$6,698,242 on revenues of $10,294,781 for first quarter 2022.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet debt, nor did we have any transactions, arrangements, obligations (including contingent 
obligations) or other relationships with any unconsolidated entities or other persons that may have a material current or future effect on 
financial conditions, changes in the financial conditions, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures, capital resources, or 
significant components of revenue or expenses other than the following:

We are a party to operating leases and license agreements that represent commitments for future payments (described in Note 
9, “Operating Leases,” to our condensed consolidated financial statements) and we have issued purchase orders in the ordinary course of 
business that represent commitments to future payments for goods and services.

For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2022 and 2021

Results of Operations

Summarized immediately below and discussed in more detail in the subsequent subsections is an analysis of our operating 
results for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, represented as a percentage of total revenues for each such quarter:

Three Months Ended
March 31,

2022 2021
Revenue 100% 100%
Cost of revenue 81% 68%

Gross profit 19% 32%
Selling, general and administrative expenses:
Research and development expense 5% 18%
Selling, advertising and promotional expense 27% 24%
General and administrative expense 53% 104%

Total selling, general and administrative expenses 85% 145%

Operating loss (66)% (113)%

Change in fair value of short-term investments (1)% —%
Change in fair value of contingent consideration promissory 
notes (1)% —%
Change in fair value of derivative liabilities 1% 968%
Other income and interest income (expense), net 1% 2%

Income (loss) before income tax benefit (65)% 857%
Income tax (provision) —% —%

Net income/(loss) (65)% 857%

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests of consolidated 
subsidiary 1% —%

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders (64)% 857%

Net income/(loss) per share information:
Basic $ (0.13) $ 0.49
Diluted $ (0.13) $ 0.49
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Revenues

Revenues by Type and by Operating Segment

Our operating segments generate two types of revenues:

Product revenues primarily includes video operating segment hardware sales of in-car and body-worn cameras, along with 
sales of our ThermoVuTM units, disinfectants, and personal protective equipment. Additionally, product revenues also include 
the sale of tickets by our ticketing operating segment that have been purchased or received through our sponsorships and 
partnerships and held in inventory by our ticketing segment until their sale.

Service and other revenues consist of cloud and warranty services revenues from our subscription plan and storage offerings 
of our video solutions segment. Our ticketing operating segments’ secondary ticketing marketplace revenues are included in 
service revenue. We recognize service revenue from sales generated through its secondary ticketing marketplace as we collect 
net services fees on secondary ticketing marketplace transactions. Lastly, our revenue cycle management segment revenues are 
included in the service revenues for services provided to medical providers throughout the country.

Our video operating segment sells our products and services to customers in the following manner:

● Sales to domestic customers are made directly to the end customer (typically a law enforcement agency or a 
commercial customer) through our sales force, comprised of our employees. Revenue is recorded when the product is 
shipped to the end customer.

● Sales to international customers are made through independent distributors who purchase products from us at a 
wholesale price and sell to the end user (typically law enforcement agencies or a commercial customer) at a retail 
price. The distributor retains the margin as its compensation for its role in the transaction. The distributor generally 
maintains product inventory, customer receivables and all related risks and rewards of ownership. Revenue is recorded 
when the product is shipped to the distributor consistent with the terms of the distribution agreement.

● Repair parts and services for domestic and international customers are generally handled by our inside customer 
service employees. Revenue is recognized upon shipment of the repair parts and acceptance of the service or materials 
by the end customer.

Our revenue cycle management operating segment sells its services to customers in the following manner:

● Our revenue cycle management operating segment generates service revenues through relationships with medium to large 
healthcare organizations, in which the underlying service revenue is recognized upon execution of services. Service 
revenues are generally determined as a percentage of the amount of medical billings collected by the customer. 
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Our ticketing operating segment sells our products and services to customers in the following manner:

● Our ticketing operating segment generates product revenues from the sale of tickets directly to consumers for a particular 
event that the ticketing operating segment has previously purchased and held in inventory for ultimate resale to the end 
consumer. Service sales through TicketSmarter are driven largely in part by the usage of the TicketSmarter.com 
marketplace by buyers and sellers, in which the Company collects service fees for each transaction completed through this 
platform.

We may discount our prices on specific orders based upon the size of the order, the specific customer and the competitive 
landscape.

The Omicron Variant of COVID-19 had an impact on all of our operating segment revenue streams for the three months ended 
March 31, 2022. In particular, it had a negative impact generally on our video solutions operating segment legacy products and, 
specifically, our commercial event recorder hardware (DVM-250 Plus) and in-car hardware for law enforcement (DVM-800) during the 
quarter. Ticketing operating segment revenues also continues to be negatively impacted due to the cancellation of live events and public 
caution surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic. Our revenue cycle management operating segment was also affected due to the higher 
level of healthcare service utilization due to the Omicron Variant while certain elective and routine healthcare services were reduced due 
to COVID-19 pandemic restrictions.

Product revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 were $2,410,060 and $1,912,577 respectively, an 
increase of $497,483 (26%), due to the following factors:

● Revenues generated by the new ticketing operating segment began with the Company’s September 2021 acquisition of 
TicketSmarter. The new ticketing operating segment generated $1,073,830 in product revenues for the three months 
ended March 31, 2022, compared to $-0- for the three months ended March 31, 2021. This product revenue relates to 
the resale of tickets purchased for live events, including sporting events, concerts, and theatre, then sold through 
various platforms to customers.

● The Company’s video segment operating segment generated revenues totaling $1,336,230 during the three months 
ended March 31, 2022 compared to $1,912,577 for the three months ended March 31, 2021 due to slowing sales of our 
ThermoVuTM product lines related to our COVID-19 response. The Company launched two product lines in direct 
response to the increased safety precautions that organizations and individuals are taking due to the COVID-19 
pandemic. ThermoVu™ was launched as a non-contact temperature-screening instrument that measures temperature 
through the wrist and controls entry to facilities when temperature measurements exceed pre-determined parameters. 
ThermoVu™ has optional features such as facial recognition to improve facility security by restricting access based on 
temperature and/or facial recognition reasons. ThermoVu™ provides an instant pass/fail audible tone with its 
temperature display and controls access to facilities based on such results. ThermoVuTM has been applied in schools, 
dental office, hospitals, office buildings, and other public venues. The Company also launched its Shield™ 
disinfectant/sanitizer product lines to fulfill demand by current customers and others for a disinfectant and sanitizer 
that is less harsh than many of the traditional products now widely distributed. The Shield™ Cleanser product line 
contains a cleanser with no harsh chemicals or fumes. The Company is beginning to experience pressure on these 
product lines as the COVID-19 pandemic begins to subside.

● In general, our video solutions operating segment has experienced pressure on its product revenues as our in-car and 
body-worn systems are facing increased competition because our competitors have released new products with 
advanced features. Additionally, our law enforcement revenues declined over the prior period due to price-cutting and 
competitive actions by our competitors, adverse marketplace effects related to our patent litigation proceedings and 
our recent financial condition. We introduced our new body-worn cameras, the FirstVu Pro and FirstVu II, in the 
fourth quarter of 2021, as we have begun to see increased traction with these products in the first quarter of 2022. The 
Company hopes the interest throughout the marketplace continues to grow for these new products as the market is able 
to review and test these new products.

● Our video solutions operating segment management has been focusing on migrating customers, and in particular 
commercial customers, from a hardware sale to a service fee model. Therefore, we expect a reduction in commercial 
hardware sales (principally DVM-250’s, FLT-250’s, and our body-worn camera line) as we convert these customers to 
a service model under which we provide the hardware as part of a recurring monthly service fee. In that respect, we 
introduced a monthly subscription agreement plan for our body worn cameras and related equipment during the 
second quarter of 2020 that allowed law enforcement agencies to pay a monthly service fee to obtain body worn 
cameras without incurring a significant upfront capital outlay. This program has continued to gain traction, resulting in 
decreased product revenues and increasing our service revenues. We expect this program to continue to hold traction, 
resulting in recurring revenues over a span of three to five years.
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Service and other revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 were $7,884,721 and $623,252, respectively, 
an increase of $7,261,469 (1,165%), due to the following factors:

● Cloud revenues generated by the video solutions operating segment were $270,925 and $241,653 for the three months 
ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, an increase of $29,272 (12%). We have experienced increased interest 
in our cloud solutions for law enforcement primarily due to the deployment of our cloud-based EVO-HD in-car 
system and our next generation body-worn camera products, which contributed to our increased cloud revenues in the 
three months ended March 31, 2022. We expect this trend to continue throughout 2022 as the migration from local 
storage to cloud storage continues in our customer base.

● Video solutions operating segment revenues from extended warranty services were $199,491 and $254,692 for the 
three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, a decrease of $55,201 (22%). We have many customers 
that have purchased extended warranty packages, primarily in our DVM-800 premium service program. However, the 
continued affects from the COVID-19 pandemic has adversely affected our sales of DVM-800 hardware systems 
resulting in a decrease in their sales in the three months ended March 31, 2022 compared to the same period in 2021.

● Our new ticketing operating segment generated service revenues totaling $5,306,945 and $-0- for the three months 
ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, an increase of $5,306,945 (100%). The Company completed the 
acquisitions of Goody Tickets, LLC and TicketSmarter, LLC on September 1, 2021, thus resulting in the new revenue 
stream for the Company. TicketSmarter collects fees on transactions administered through the TicketSmarter.com 
platform for the buying and selling of tickets for live events throughout the country. We expect our ticketing operating 
segment to continue to present a strong revenue outlook moving forward.

● Our new revenue cycle management operating segment generated service revenues totaling $1,903,957 and $-0- for 
the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, an increase of $1,903,957 (100%). Our revenue cycle 
management operating segment has completed four acquisitions since formation in June of 2021, thus resulting in the 
new service revenue stream added in the three months ended March 31, 2022. Our revenue cycle management 
operating segment provides revenue cycle management solutions and back-office services to healthcare organizations 
throughout the country. We expect our revenue cycle management segment to continue to present a strong revenue 
outlook moving forward.

Total revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 were $10,294,781 and $2,535,829, respectively, an 
increase of $7,758,952 (306%), due to the reasons noted above.
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Cost of Product Revenue

Overall cost of product revenue sold for the three months ended March 31, 2022, and 2021 was $2,822,051 and $1,561,310, 
respectively, an increase of $1,260,741 (81%). Overall cost of goods sold for products as a percentage of product revenues for the three 
months ended March 31, 2022, and 2021 were 117.1% and 81.6%, respectively. Cost of products sold by operating segment is as 
follows:

Three Months Ended March 31,
2022 2021

Cost of Product Revenues:
Video Solutions $ 1,477,715 $ 1,561,310
Revenue Cycle Management — —
Ticketing 1,344,336 —
Total Cost of Product Revenues $ 2,822,051 $ 1,561,310

The decrease in cost of goods sold for our video solutions segment products is directly correlated with the decrease in product 
sales for the three months ended March 31, 2022 compared to the three months ended March 31, 2021. In addition, the Video Solutions 
Segment recorded valuation allowances for its older product lines and a portion of its Shield products during the first quarter of 2022. 
Cost of product sold as a percentage of product revenues for the video solutions segment increased to 110.6% for the three months 
ended March 31, 2022 as compared to 81.6% for the three months ended March 31, 2021.

The increase in ticketing operating segment cost of product sold is due to the acquisition of TicketSmarter in the third quarter 
of 2021, resulting in an increase to cost of product revenue of $1,344,336 for the three months ended March 31, 2022, compared to $-0- 
for the three months ended March 31, 2021. Cost of product sold as a percentage of product revenues for the ticketing solutions was 
125.2% for the three months ended March 31, 2022. The Ticketing Segment recorded an allowance for unsold and under-market tickets 
during the first quarter 2022 due to event cancellations and restrictions imposed on the size and type of gatherings related to the 
Omicron Variant. In addition, we provide a reserve related to Major League Baseball reducing their spring training schedule and 
delaying their regular season due to the player strike in the first quarter of 2022.

We recorded $3,896,460 and $3,915,089 in reserves for obsolete and excess inventories at March 31, 2022 and December 31, 
2021, respectively. Total raw materials and component parts were $3,839,796 and $3,062,046 at March 31, 2022 and December 31, 
2021, respectively, an increase of $777,750 (25%). Finished goods balances were $9,462,527 and $10,512,577 at March 31, 2022 and 
December 31, 2021, respectively, a decrease of $1,050,050 (10%) which was attributable to a decrease in finished goods from our newly 
acquired ticketing segment. The small decrease in the inventory reserve is primarily due to the reduction in finished goods and 
movement of excess inventory. We believe the reserves are appropriate given our inventory levels as of March 31, 2022.

Cost of Service Revenue

Overall cost of service revenue sold for the three months ended March 31, 2022, and 2021 was $5,553,111 and $162,637, 
respectively, an increase of $5,370,474 (3,302%). Overall cost of goods sold for services as a percentage of service revenues for the 
three months ended March 31, 2022, and 2021 were 70.2% and 26.1%, respectively. Cost of service revenues by operating shipment is 
as follows:

Three Months Ended March 31,
2022 2021

Cost of Service Revenues:
Video Solutions $ 263,903 $ 162,637
Revenue Cycle Management 1,206,787 —
Ticketing 4,062,421 —
Total Cost of Service Revenues $ 5,533,111 $ 162,637

The increase in cost of service revenues for our video solutions segment is commensurate with the increase in service revenues 
in the three months ended March 31, 2022 compared to the three months ended March 31, 2021. Cost of service revenues as a 
percentage of service revenues for the video solutions segment increased to 39.2% for the three months ended March 31, 2022 as 
compared to 26.1% for the three months ended March 31, 2021.

The increase in revenue cycle management operating segment cost of service revenue is due to the four acquisitions of medical 
billing companies completed since June 2021. Cost of service revenues as a percentage of product revenues for the revenue cycle 
management operating segment was 36.7% for the first three months of 2022.
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The increase in ticketing operating segment cost of service revenues is the due to the 2021 acquisition of TicketSmarter, 
resulting in an increase to cost of service revenue of $4,062,421 for the three months ended March 31, 2022, compared to $-0- for the 
three months ended March 31, 2021. Cost of service revenues as a percentage of service revenues for the ticketing was 76.5% for the 
three months ended March 31, 2022.

Gross Profit

Overall gross profit for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 was $1,939,619 and $811,882, respectively, an 
increase of $1,127,737 (138.9%). Gross profit by operating segment was as follows:

Gross Profit:
Video Solutions $ 268,431 $ 811,882
Revenue Cycle Management 697,169 —
Ticketing 974,019 —
Total Gross Profit $ 1,939,619 $ 811,882

The overall increase is attributable to the large overall increase in revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and an 
increase in the overall cost of sales as a percentage of overall revenues to 81.1% for the three months ended March 31, 2022 from 68.0% 
for the three months ended March 31, 2021. Our goal is to improve our margins over the longer term based on the expected margins 
generated by our new recent revenue cycle management and ticketing operating segments together with our video solutions operating 
segment and its expected margins from our EVO-HD, DVM-800, VuLink, FirstVu Pro, FirstVu II, FirstVu HD, ThermoVuTM, ShieldTM

disinfectants and our cloud evidence storage and management offering, provided that they gain traction in the marketplace and subject to 
a normalizing economy in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic. In addition, if revenues from the video solutions segment increase, we 
will seek to further improve our margins from this segment through expansion and increased efficiency utilizing fixed manufacturing 
overhead components. We plan to continue our initiative to more efficient management of our supply chain through outsourcing 
production, quantity purchases and more effective purchasing practices.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses were $8,742,957 and $3,677,575 for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 
2021, respectively, an increase of $5,065,382 (137.7%). The increase was primarily attributable to the recent acquisitions completed in 
the third quarter of 2021. Our selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of sales decreased to 85% for the three 
months ended March 31, 2022 compared to 145% in the same period in 2021. The significant components of selling, general and 
administrative expenses are as follows:

Three months ended
March 31,

2022 2021
Research and development expense $ 498,000 $ 448,965
Selling, advertising and promotional expense 2,779,404 596,755
General and administrative expense 5,465,553 2,631,855

Total $ 8,742,957 $ 3,677,575

Research and development expense. We continue to focus on bringing new products to market, including updates and 
improvements to current products. Our research and development expenses totaled $498,000 and $448,965 for the three months ended 
March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, an increase of $49,035 (10.9%). Most of our engineers are dedicated to research and 
development activities for new products, primarily the new generation of body-worn cameras, EVO-HD and non-mirror based DVM-
250 that can be located in multiple places in a vehicle. We expect our research and development activities will continue to trend higher 
in future quarters as we continue to expand our product offerings based on our new body-worn camera and EVO-HD product platform 
and as we outsource more development projects. We consider our research and development capabilities and new product focus to be a 
competitive advantage and intend to continue to invest in this area on a prudent basis and consistent with our financial resources.
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Selling, advertising and promotional expenses. Selling, advertising and promotional expense totaled $2,779,404 and $596,755 
for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, an increase of $2,182,649 (365.8%). Promotional and advertising 
expenses represent the primary component of these costs and totaled $2,389,063 during the three months ended March 31, 2022, 
compared to $197,203 during the three months ended March 31, 2021, an increase of $2,191,860 (1,111.5%). The increase is primarily 
attributable to the 2022 sponsorship of NASCAR and IndyCar. Additionally, TicketSmarter is very active in sponsorship and 
advertising, as it continues to build its brand and gain recognition. TicketSmarter accounted for $1,458,267 of the total promotional and 
advertising expense for the three months ended March 31, 2022.

General and administrative expense. General and administrative expenses totaled $5,465,553 and $2,631,855 for the three 
months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, an increase of $2,833,698 (107.7%). The increase in general and administrative 
expenses in the three months ended March 31, 2022 compared to the same period in 2021 is primarily attributable to an increase in 
administrative salaries, as payroll continues to increase with the new acquisition completed by the Company. General and administrative 
expense also increased due to a substantial increase in depreciation and amortization, rent expenses, and legal and professional expenses 
for the three months ended March 31, 2022 compared to the same period in 2021.

Operating Loss

For the reasons stated above, our operating loss was $6,803,338 and $2,865,693 for the three months ended March 31, 2022 
and 2021, respectively, an increase of $3,937,645 (137.4%). Operating loss as a percentage of revenues improved to 66% in the three 
months ended March 31, 2022 from 113% in the same period in 2021.

Interest Income

Interest income increased to $71,362 for the three months ended March 31, 2022, from $41,686 in the same period of 2021, 
which reflects our improved cash and cash equivalent levels in the first quarter of 2022 compared to the first quarter of 2021. The 
Company held significant cash and cash equivalents throughout the first quarter of 2022, allowing a full three months of interest income. 
Compared to the completed two registered direct offerings in the first quarter of 2021 which yielded net proceeds of approximately 
$66.4 million which balances earned interest income for the latter part of the first quarter of 2021.
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Interest Expense

We incurred interest expense of $17,009 and $1,428 during the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. 
The increase is attributable to the contingent earn-out notes associated with the four Nobility Healthcare acquisitions, currently at a total 
balance of $1,762,064 for the four notes, with interest rates of 3.00% per annum.

Change in Fair Value of Short-Term Investments

We recognized a loss on change in fair value of short-term investments totaling $84,818 and $4,964 during the three months 
ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Such short-term investments are included in cash and cash equivalents as they contain 
original maturities of ninety (90) days or less. The Company completed two registered direct offerings in the first quarter of 2021, which 
yielded net proceeds of approximately $66.4 million, a portion of which was invested in short-term securities with original maturities of 
90 days or less.

Change in Fair Value of Contingent Consideration Promissory Notes

During 2021, the Company issued a contingent consideration promissory note in connection with the two acquisitions made by 
our revenue cycle management segment in the amount of $350,000 and $650,000. Management’s estimate of the fair value of the 
$350,000 contingent promissory note at March 31, 2022 decreased by $51,464 compared to its estimated fair value at December 31, 
2021. Management’s estimate of the fair value of the $650,000 contingent promissory note at March 31, 2022 increased by $107,514 
compared to its estimated fair value at December 31, 2021. Therefore, the Company recorded a net loss of $56,050 in the Consolidated 
Statements of Operations for the three months ended March 31, 2022.

Change in Fair Value of Derivative Liabilities

During the first quarter of 2021, the Company issued detachable warrants to purchase a total of 42,500,000 shares of Common 
Stock in association with the two registered direct offerings previously described. The underlying warrant agreement terms provide for 
net cash settlement outside the control of the Company in the event of tender offers under certain circumstances. As such, the Company 
is required to treat these warrants as derivative liabilities which are valued at their estimated fair value at their issuance date and at each 
reporting date with any subsequent changes reported in the condensed consolidated statement of operations as the change in fair value of 
warrant derivative liabilities. The change in fair value of the warrant derivative liabilities from December 31, 2021, to March 31, 2022, 
totaled $148,171 which was recognized as a gain in the first quarter of 2022. The Company determined the fair value of such warrants as 
of December 31, 2021, and as of March 31, 2022, to be $14,846,932 and $14,698,761, respectively.

Income/(Loss) before Income Tax Benefit

As a result of the above results of operations, we reported an income/(loss) before income tax benefit of ($6,698,242) and 
$21,721,858 for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, a decrease of $28,420,100 (130.8%).

Income Tax Benefit

We did not record an income tax expense related to our income for the three months ended March 31, 2022 due to our overall 
net operating loss carryforwards available. We have further determined to continue providing a full valuation reserve on our net deferred 
tax assets as of March 31, 2022. We had approximately $81.4 million of net operating loss carryforwards and $1,8 million of research 
and development tax credit carryforwards as of March 31, 2022 available to offset future net taxable income.
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Net Income/(Loss)

As a result of the above results of operations, we reported net income/(loss) of ($6,698,242) and $21,721,858 for the three 
months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, a decrease of $28,420,100 (130.8%).

Net Loss Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests of Consolidated Subsidiary

The Company owns a 51% equity interest in its consolidated subsidiary, Nobility Healthcare. As a result, the noncontrolling 
shareholders or minority interest is allocated 49% of the income/loss of Nobility Healthcare which is reflected in the statement of 
income (loss) as “net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests of consolidated subsidiary”. We reported net loss attributable 
to noncontrolling interests of consolidated subsidiary of $98,094 and $-0- for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, 
respectively.

Net Income/(Loss) Attributable to Common Stockholders

As a result of the above, we reported a net income/(loss) attributable to common stockholders of ($6,600,148) and $21,721,858 
for the years three months March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, a deterioration of $28,322,006 (130.4%).

Basic and Diluted Income/(Loss) per Share

The basic and diluted income/(loss) per share was ($0.13) and $0.49 for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, 
respectively. Basic income (loss) per share is based upon the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. 
For the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, all shares issuable upon conversion of convertible debt and the exercise of 
outstanding stock options and warrants were antidilutive, and, therefore, not included in the computation of diluted income (loss) per 
share.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Overall:

Management’s Liquidity Plan. The Company has historically raised capital in the form of equity and debt instruments from 
private and public sources to supplement its needs for funds to support its business operational and strategic plans. In recent years the 
Company has accessed the public and private capital markets to raise funding through the issuance of debt and equity. In that regard, the 
Company had raised net proceeds of approximately $66.4 million in registered direct offerings of common stock, pre-funded warrants 
and warrants during 2021. Furthermore, the Company’s only remaining interest-bearing debt at March 31, 2022 is $150,000 remaining 
due on the promissory notes under the SBA’s PPP and EIDL programs, along with the four acquired private medical billing companies’ 
contingent consideration promissory notes, as more fully described in Note 3, “Debt Obligations”. We believe that the net proceeds 
from the registered direct offerings will be sufficient to fund our operations during the remainder of 2022 and management believes that 
it now has adequate liquidity for the foreseeable future from the recently completed registered direct offerings in 2021. Such offerings 
were completed through utilization of the Company’s shelf-registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-239419), which was 
initially filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC) on June 25, 2020 and was declared effective on July 2, 
2020 (the “Shelf Registration Statement”).

Shelf Registration Statement on Form S-3 - The Shelf Registration Statement allows the Company to offer and sell, from 
time to time in one or more offerings, any combination of our shares of common stock, debt securities, debt securities convertible into 
common stock or other securities in any combination thereof, rights to purchase shares of common stock or other securities in any 
combination thereof, warrants to purchase shares of common stock or other securities in any combination thereof or units consisting of 
common stock or other securities in any combination thereof having an aggregate initial offering price not exceeding $125,000,000.
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Management believes that it has adequate funding to support its business operations for the foreseeable future as a result of the funds 
raised through these offerings.

Cash, cash equivalents: As of March 31, 2022, we had cash and cash equivalents with an aggregate balance of $20,561,116, a 
decrease from a balance of $32,007,792 at December 31, 2021. Summarized immediately below and discussed in more detail in the 
subsequent subsections are the main elements of the $11,446,676 net decrease in cash during the three months ended March 31, 2022:

● Operating activities: $6,055,672 of net cash used in operating activities. Net cash used in operating activities was 
$6,055,672 and $3,206,844 for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, an 
increase of $2,848,828. The deterioration is attributable to the net loss incurred for the first quarter 
of 2022, the non-cash gain attributable to the change in value of the warrant derivative liability, the 
usage of cash to increase accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, and other operating assets during 
the three months ended March 31, 2022 compared to the same period in 2021.

● Investing activities: $3,195,346 of net cash used in investing activities. Cash used in investing activities was $3,195,346 
and $99,274 for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. During the three 
months ended March 31, 2022, we made capital expenditures for: (i) building improvements of the 
newly purchased office and warehouse building, and transportation assets; (ii) patent applications on 
our proprietary technology utilized in our new products and included in intangible assets; and (iii) 
the closing of a business and asset acquisition.

● Financing activities: $2,195,658 of net cash used in financing activities. Cash used in financing activities was $2,195,658 
and cash provided by financing activities was $66,570,600 for the three months ended March 31, 
2022 and 2021, respectively. During the first three months of 2022 the Company repurchased its 
common stock on the open market pursuant to the stock repurchase plan, as well as principal 
payments on contingent consideration promissory notes. During 2021, we raised substantial funds 
through the completion of two registered direct offerings of our common stock.

Commitments:

We had $20,561,116 of cash and cash equivalents and net positive working capital $19,483,613 as of March 31, 2022. 
Accounts receivable and other receivables balances represented $5,602,094 of our net working capital at March 31, 2022. We believe 
we will be able to collect our outstanding receivables on a timely basis and reduce the overall level during the balance of 2022, which 
would provide positive cash flow to support our operations during 2022. Inventory represents $9,405,920 of our net working capital at 
March 31, 2022, and finished goods represented $9,462,527 of total inventory at March 31, 2022. We are actively managing the level of 
inventory and our goal is to reduce such level during the balance of 2022 by our sales activities, the increase of which should provide 
additional cash flow to help support our operations during 2022.

Capital Expenditures:

We had the following material commitments for capital expenditures at March 31, 2022:

Stock Repurchase Program - On December 6, 2021, the Board of Directors of the Company authorized the repurchase of up to 
$10.0 million of the Company’s outstanding common stock under the specified terms of a share repurchase program (the “Program”). 
Subsequent to March 31, 2022, the Company repurchased 1,280,387 shares of its common stock for $1,415,382, in accordance with the 
Program. The Program does not obligate the Company to acquire any specific number of shares and shares may be repurchased in 
privately negotiated and/or open market transactions, including under plans complying with Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934, as amended.
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Lease commitments. The following sets forth the operating lease right of use assets and liabilities as of March 31, 2022:

The following sets forth the operating lease right of use assets and liabilities as of March 31, 2022:

Assets:
Operating lease right of use assets $ 1,051,139

Liabilities:
Operating lease obligations-current portion $ 402,313
Operating lease obligations-less current portion 717,021
Total operating lease obligations $ 1,119,334

The components of lease expense were as follows for the three months ended March 31, 2022:

Selling, general and administrative expenses $ 155,072

Following are the minimum lease payments for each year and in total:

Year ending December 31:
2022 (April 1, to December 31, 2022) $ 374,088
2023 305,627
2024 245,761
2025 196,462
Thereafter 175,113
Total undiscounted minimum future lease payments 1,297,051
Imputed interest (177,717)
Total operating lease liability $ 1,119,334

Debt obligations – Outstanding debt obligations comprises the following:

March 31, 
2022

December 31, 
2021

Economic injury disaster loan (EIDL) $ 150,000 $ 150,000
Contingent consideration promissory note – Nobility Healthcare Division 
Acquisition 234,027 317,212
Contingent consideration promissory note – Nobility Healthcare Division 
Acquisition 673,037 650,000
Contingent consideration promissory note – Nobility Healthcare Division 
Acquisition 750,000 —
Contingent consideration promissory note – Nobility Healthcare Division 
Acquisition 105,000 —
Debt obligations 1,912,064 1,117,212
Less: current maturities of debt obligations 662,717 389,934
Debt obligations, long-term $ 1,249,347 $ 727,278

Debt obligations mature as follows as of March 31, 2022:

March 31,
2022

2022 (April 1, 2022 to December 31, 2022) $ 475,652
2023 748,305
2024 546,856
2025 3,412
2026 3,542
2027 and thereafter 134,297

Total $ 1,912,064
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Critical Accounting Estimates

Our significant accounting policies are summarized in Note 1, “Nature of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting 
Policies,” to our consolidated financial statements. While the selection and application of any accounting policy may involve some level 
of subjective judgments and estimates, we believe the following accounting policies and estimates are the most critical to our financial 
statements, potentially involve the most subjective judgments in their selection and application, and are the most susceptible to 
uncertainties and changing conditions:

● Revenue Recognition / Allowance for Doubtful Accounts;

● Allowance for Excess and Obsolete Inventory;

● Goodwill and other intangible assets;

● Warranty Reserves;

● Fair value of warrant derivative liabilities;

● Stock-based Compensation Expense;

● Fair value of warrants;

● Fair value of assets and liabilities acquired in business combinations; and

● Accounting for Income Taxes.
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Revenue Recognition / Allowances for Doubtful Accounts. Revenue is recognized for the shipment of products or delivery of 
service when all five of the following conditions are met:

(i) Identify the contract with the customer;

(ii) Identify the performance obligations in the contract;

(iii) Determine the transaction price;

(iv) Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and

(v) Recognize revenue when a performance obligation is satisfied.

We consider the terms and conditions of the contract and our customary business practices in identifying our contracts under 
ASC 606. We determine we have a contract when the customer order is approved, we can identify each party’s rights regarding the 
services to be transferred, we can identify the payment terms for the services, we have determined the customer has the ability and intent 
to pay and the contract has commercial substance. At contract inception we evaluate whether the contract includes more than one 
performance obligation. We apply judgment in determining the customer’s ability and intent to pay, which is based on a variety of 
factors, including the customer’s historical payment experience or, in the case of a new customer, credit and financial information 
pertaining to the customer.

Performance obligations promised in a contract are identified based on the services and the products that will be transferred to 
the customer that are both capable of being distinct, whereby the customer can benefit from the service either on its own or together with 
other resources that are readily available from third parties or from us, and are distinct in the context of the contract, whereby the 
transfer of the services and the products is separately identifiable from other promises in the contract. Our performance obligations 
consist of (i) products, (ii) professional services, and (iii) extended warranties.

The transaction price is determined based on the consideration to which we expect to be entitled in exchange for transferring 
services to the customer. Variable consideration is included in the transaction price if, in our judgment it is probable that a significant 
future reversal of cumulative revenue under the contract will not occur. None of our contracts contain a significant financing component.

If the contract contains a single performance obligation, the entire transaction price is allocated to the single performance 
obligation. Contracts that contain multiple performance obligations require an allocation of the transaction price to each performance 
obligation based on the relative standalone selling price (“SSP”).

Revenue for our video solutions segment is recognized at the time the related performance obligation is satisfied by transferring 
the control of the promised service to a customer. Revenue is recognized when control of the service is transferred to the customer, in an 
amount that reflects the consideration that we expect to receive in exchange for our services. We generate all our revenue from contracts 
with customers.

Revenue for our revenue cycle management segment is recorded on a net basis, as its primary source of revenue is its end-to 
end service fees. These service fees are reported as revenue monthly upon completion of our performance obligation to provide the 
agreed upon services.

Revenue for our ticketing segment is recorded on a gross or net basis based on management’s assessment of whether we are 
acting as a principal or agent in the transaction. The determination is based upon the evaluation of control over the event ticket, 
including the right to sell the ticket, prior to its transfer to the ticket buyer.

We sell our tickets held in inventory, which consists of one performance obligation, being to transfer control of an event ticket 
to the buyer upon confirmation of the order. We act as the principal in these transactions as we own the ticket at the time of sale, 
therefore we control the ticket prior to transferring to the customer. In these transactions, revenue is recorded on a gross basis based on 
the value of the ticket and is recognized when an order is confirmed. Payment is typically due upon delivery of the ticket.
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We also act as an intermediary between buyers and sellers through the online secondary marketplace. Revenues derived from 
this marketplace primarily consist of service fees from ticketing operations, and consists of one primary performance obligation, which 
is facilitating the transaction between the buyer and seller, being satisfied at the time the order has been confirmed. As we do not control 
the ticket prior to the transfer, we act as an agent in these transactions. Revenue is recognized on a net basis, net of the amount due to the 
seller when an order is confirmed, the seller is then obligated to deliver the tickets to the buyer per the seller’s listing. Payment is due at 
the time of sale.

We review all significant, unusual, or nonstandard shipments of product or delivery of services as a routine part of our 
accounting and financial reporting process to determine compliance with these requirements. Extended warranties are offered on 
selected products, and when a customer purchases an extended warranty, the associated proceeds are treated as contract liability and 
recognized over the term of the extended warranty.

For our video solutions segment, our principal customers are state, local, and federal law enforcement agencies, which 
historically have been low risks for uncollectible accounts. However, we have commercial customers and international distributors that 
present a greater risk for uncollectible accounts than such law enforcement customers and we consider a specific reserve for bad debts 
based on their individual circumstances. Our historical bad debts have been negligible, with less than $258,000 charged off as 
uncollectible on cumulative revenues of $248.0 million since we commenced deliveries during 2006.

For our ticketing segment, our customers are mainly online visitors that pay at the time of the transaction, and we collect the 
service fees charged with the transaction. Thus, leading to minimal risk for uncollectible accounts, to which we then consider a specific 
reserve for bad debts based on their individual circumstances. As we continue to learn more about the collectability related to this recent 
acquisition, we will track historical bad debts and continue to assess appropriate reserves.

For our revenue cycle management segment, our customers are mainly medium to large healthcare organizations that are 
charged monthly upon the execution of our services. Being these customers are healthcare organizations with minimal risk for 
uncollectible accounts, we consider a specific reserve for bad debts based on their individual circumstances. As we continue to learn 
more about the collectability related to this recently added segment, we will track historical bad debts and continue to assess appropriate 
reserves.

Allowance for Excess and Obsolete Inventory. We record valuation reserves on our inventory for estimated excess or obsolete 
inventory items. The amount of the reserve is equal to the difference between the cost of the inventory and the estimated market value 
based upon assumptions about future demand and market conditions. On a quarterly basis, management performs an analysis of the 
underlying inventory to identify reserves needed for excess and obsolescence. Management uses its best judgment to estimate 
appropriate reserves based on this analysis. In addition, we adjust the carrying value of inventory if the current market value of that 
inventory is below its cost.

Inventories consisted of the following at March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021:

March 31,
2022

December 31,
2021

Raw material and component parts– video solutions segment $ 3,839,796 $ 3,062,046
Work-in-process– video solutions segment 56 —
Finished goods – video solutions segment 7,990,526 8,410,307
Finished goods – ticketing segment 1,472,002 2,102,272
Subtotal 13,302,380 13,574,625
Reserve for excess and obsolete inventory– video solutions segment (3,334,829) (3,353,458)
Reserve for excess and obsolete inventory – ticketing segment (561,631) (561,631)
Total inventories $ 9,405,920 $ 9,659,536
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We balance the need to maintain strategic inventory levels to ensure competitive delivery performance to our customers against 
the risk of inventory obsolescence due to changing technology and customer requirements. As reflected above, our inventory reserves 
represented 29.3% of the gross inventory balance at March 31, 2022, compared to 28.8% of the gross inventory balance at December 31, 
2021. We had $3,896,460 and $3,915,089 in reserves for obsolete and excess inventories at March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, 
respectively. Total raw materials and component parts were $3,839,796 and $3,062,046 at March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, 
respectively, an increase of $777,750 (25%). Finished goods balances were $9,462,528 and $10,512,579 at March 31, 2022 and 
December 31, 2021, respectively, a decrease of $1,050,051 (10%). The decrease in finished goods was primarily attributable to a 
reduction in ticketing inventory of $630,270 at March 31, 2022 compared to December 31, 2021. The slight decrease in the inventory 
reserve is primarily due to the reduction in finished goods that had a reserve placed on them prior to sale. The remaining reserve for 
inventory obsolescence is generally provided for the level of component parts of the older versions of our printed circuit boards and the 
phase out of our DVM-750, DVM-500 Plus and LaserAlly legacy products. Additionally, the Company determined a reasonable reserve 
for inventory held at the ticket operating segment, in which some inventory items sell below cost or go unsold, thus having to be fully 
written-off following the event date. We believe the reserves are appropriate given our inventory levels at March 31, 2022.

If actual future demand or market conditions are less favorable than those projected by management or significant engineering 
changes to our products that are not anticipated and appropriately managed, additional inventory write-downs may be required in excess 
of the inventory reserves already established.

Goodwill and other intangible assets. When we acquire a business, we determine the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed on the date of acquisition, which may include a significant amount of intangible assets such as customer relationships, software 
and content, as well as goodwill. When determining the fair values of the acquired intangible assets, we consider, among other factors, 
analyses of historical financial performance and an estimate of the future performance of the acquired business. The fair values of the 
acquired intangible assets are primarily calculated using an income approach that relies on discounted cash flows. This method starts 
with a forecast of the expected future net cash flows for the asset and then adjusts the forecast to present value by applying a discount 
rate that reflects the risk factors associated with the cash flow streams. We consider this approach to be the most appropriate valuation 
technique because the inherent value of an acquired intangible asset is its ability to generate future income. In a typical acquisition, we 
engage a third-party valuation expert to assist us with the fair value analyses for acquired intangible assets.

Determining the fair values of acquired intangible assets requires us to exercise significant judgment. We select reasonable 
estimates and assumptions based on evaluating a number of factors, including, but not limited to, marketplace participants, consumer 
awareness and brand history. Additionally, there are significant judgments inherent in discounted cash flows such as estimating the 
amount and timing of projected future cash flows, the selection of discount rates, hypothetical royalty rates and contributory asset capital 
charges. Specifically, the selected discount rates are intended to reflect the risk inherent in the projected future cash flows generated by 
the underlying acquired intangible assets.

Determining an acquired intangible asset’s useful life also requires significant judgment and is based on evaluating a number of 
factors, including, but not limited to, the expected use of the asset, historical client retention rates, consumer awareness and trade name 
history, as well as any contractual provisions that could limit or extend an asset’s useful life.

The Company’s goodwill is evaluated in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 350, which requires goodwill to be assessed for 
impairment at least annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of goodwill may not be 
recoverable. In addition, an impairment evaluation of our amortizable intangible assets may also be performed if events or 
circumstances indicate potential impairment. Among the factors that could trigger an impairment review are current operating results 
that do not align with our annual plan or historical performance; changes in our strategic plans or the use of our assets; restructuring 
charges or other changes in our business segments; competitive pressures and changes in the general economy or in the markets in 
which we operate; and a significant decline in our stock price and our market capitalization relative to our net book value.
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When performing our annual assessment of the recoverability of goodwill, we initially perform a qualitative analysis evaluating 
whether any events or circumstances occurred or exist that provide evidence that it is more likely than not that the fair value of any of 
our reporting units is less than the related carrying amount. If we do not believe that it is more likely than not that the fair value of any of 
our reporting units is less than the related carrying amount, then no quantitative impairment test is performed. However, if the results of 
our qualitative assessment indicate that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its respective carrying 
amount, then we perform a two-step quantitative impairment test.

Evaluating the recoverability of goodwill requires judgments and assumptions regarding future trends and events. As a result, 
both the precision and reliability of our estimates are subject to uncertainty. Among the factors that we consider in our qualitative 
assessment are general economic conditions and the competitive environment; actual and projected reporting unit financial performance; 
forward-looking business measurements; and external market assessments. To determine the fair values of our reporting units for a 
quantitative analysis, we typically utilize detailed financial projections, which include significant variables, such as projected rates of 
revenue growth, profitability and cash flows, as well as assumptions regarding discount rates, the Company’s weighted average cost of 
capital and other data.

Our most recent annual impairment test of goodwill was a qualitative analysis conducted as of December 31, 2021 that 
indicated no impairment. Subsequent to completing our 2021 annual impairment test, no events or changes in circumstances were noted 
that required an interim goodwill impairment test. Note 1 — Nature of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and 
Note 10 — Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements provide additional information 
regarding the Company’s goodwill and other intangible assets.

Warranty Reserves. We generally provide up to a two-year parts and labor standard warranty on our products to our customers. 
Provisions for estimated expenses related to product warranties are made at the time products are sold. These estimates are established 
using historical information on the nature, frequency, and average cost of claims. We actively study trends of claims and take action to 
improve product quality and minimize claims. Our warranty reserves were decreased to $10,582 as of March 31, 2022 compared to 
$13,742 as of December 31, 2021 as we begin to slow our warranty exposures through the roll-off of DVM-750 and DVM-800 units 
from warranty coverage. Standard warranty exposure on the DVM-800 and DVM-250plus are the responsibility of the contract 
manufacturers which reduced our overall warranty exposure as these are very popular products in our line. There is a risk that we will 
have higher warranty claim frequency rates and average cost of claims than our history has indicated on our legacy mirror products on 
our new products for which we have limited experience. Actual experience could differ from the amounts estimated requiring 
adjustments to these liabilities in future periods.

Warrant derivative liabilities. On January 14, 2021 and February 1, 2021, the Company issued warrants to purchase a total of 
42,550,000 shares of Common Stock. The warrant terms provide for net cash settlement outside the control of the Company under 
certain circumstances in the event of tender offers. As such, the Company is required to treat these warrants as derivative liabilities 
which are valued at their estimated fair value at their issuance date and at each reporting date with any subsequent changes reported in 
the consolidated statements of operations as the change in fair value of warrant derivative liabilities. Furthermore, the Company revalues 
the fair value of warrant derivative liability as of the date the warrant is exercised with the resulting warrant derivative liability 
transitioned to equity.

The Company has utilized the following assumptions in its Black-Scholes option valuation model to calculate the estimated fair 
value of the warrant derivative liabilities as of their date of issuance and as of March 31, 2022:

Issuance date 
assumptions

March 31, 2022 
assumptions

Volatility - range 106.6 – 166.6% 104.1%
Risk-free rate 0.08 – 0.49% 2.42%
Dividend 0% 0%
Remaining contractual term 0.01 – 5 years 3.8 – 4.5 years
Exercise price $ 2.80 - 3.25 $ 3.25
Common stock issuable under the warrants 42,550,000 24,300,000
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Stock-based Compensation Expense. We grant stock options to our employees and directors and such benefits provided are share-
based payment awards which require us to make significant estimates related to determining the value of our share-based compensation. 
Our expected stock-price volatility assumption is based on historical volatilities of the underlying stock that are obtained from public 
data sources and there were 25,000 stock options granted during the three months ended March 31, 2022.

If factors change and we develop different assumptions in future periods, the compensation expense that we record in the future 
may differ significantly from what we have recorded in the current period. There is a high degree of subjectivity involved when using 
option pricing models to estimate share-based compensation. Changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect our 
estimates of fair values of our share-based compensation. Certain share-based payment awards, such as employee stock options, may 
expire worthless or otherwise result in zero intrinsic value compared to the fair values originally estimated on the grant date and reported 
in our financial statements. Alternatively, values may be realized from these instruments that are significantly in excess of the fair values 
originally estimated on the grant date and reported in our financial statements. Although the fair value of employee share-based awards 
is determined using an established option pricing model, that value may not be indicative of the fair value observed in a willing 
buyer/willing seller market transaction. In addition, we account for forfeitures as they occur.

Accounting for Income Taxes. Accounting for income taxes requires significant estimates and judgments on the part of 
management. Such estimates and judgments include, but are not limited to, the effective tax rate anticipated to apply to tax differences 
that are expected to reverse in the future, the sufficiency of taxable income in future periods to realize the benefits of net deferred tax 
assets and net operating losses currently recorded and the likelihood that tax positions taken in tax returns will be sustained on audit.

As required by authoritative guidance, we record deferred tax assets or liabilities based on differences between financial 
reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities using currently enacted rates that will be in effect when the differences are expected to 
reverse. Authoritative guidance also requires that deferred tax assets be reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that 
all or some portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. As of March 31, 2022, we have fully reserved all of our deferred tax 
assets. Based on a review of our deferred tax assets and recent operating performance, we determined that our valuation allowance 
should be decreased by $7,615,000 to a balance of $16,980,000 to fully reserve our deferred tax assets at December 31, 2021. We 
determined that it was appropriate to continue to provide a full valuation reserve on our net deferred tax assets as of March 31, 2022, 
because of the overall net operating loss carryforwards available. We expect to continue to maintain a full valuation allowance until we 
determine that we can sustain a level of profitability that demonstrates our ability to realize these assets. To the extent we determine that 
the realization of some or all of these benefits is more likely than not based upon expected future taxable income, a portion or all of the 
valuation allowance will be reversed. Such a reversal would be recorded as an income tax benefit and, for some portion related to 
deductions for stock option exercises, an increase in shareholders’ equity.

As required by authoritative guidance, we have performed a comprehensive review of our portfolio of uncertain tax positions in 
accordance with recognition standards established by the FASB, an uncertain tax position represents our expected treatment of a tax 
position taken in a filed tax return or planned to be taken in a future tax return, that has not been reflected in measuring income tax 
expense for financial reporting purposes. We have no recorded liability as of March 31, 2022 representing uncertain tax positions.

We have generated substantial deferred income tax assets related to our operations primarily from the charge to compensation 
expense taken for stock options, certain tax credit carryforwards and net operating loss carryforwards. For us to realize the income tax 
benefit of these assets, we must generate sufficient taxable income in future periods when such deductions are allowed for income tax 
purposes. In some cases where deferred taxes were the result of compensation expense recognized on stock options, our ability to realize 
the income tax benefit of these assets is also dependent on our share price increasing to a point where these options have intrinsic value 
at least equal to the grant date fair value and are exercised. In assessing whether a valuation allowance is needed in connection with our 
deferred income tax assets, we have evaluated our ability to generate sufficient taxable income in future periods to utilize the benefit of 
the deferred income tax assets. We continue to evaluate our ability to use recorded deferred income tax asset balances. If we fail to 
generate taxable income for financial reporting in future years, no additional tax benefit would be recognized for those losses, since we 
will not have accumulated enough positive evidence to support our ability to utilize net operating loss carryforwards in the future. 
Therefore, we may be required to increase our valuation allowance in future periods should our assumptions regarding the generation of 
future taxable income not be realized.

Inflation and Seasonality

Inflation has not materially affected us during the past fiscal year. We do not believe that our Video Solutions and Revenue 
Cycle Management segments business is seasonal in nature, however; the Ticketing Segment is expected to generate higher revenues 
during the second half of the calendar year than in the first half.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.

Not Applicable.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures, as such terms are defined in Rules 13a-15(e) under the Exchange 
Act. The Company, under the supervision and with the participation of its management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of such disclosure controls and procedures for this Report. 
Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the Company’s disclosure 
controls and procedures were effective as of March 31, 2022 to provide reasonable assurance that material information required to be 
disclosed by the Company in this Report was recorded, processed, summarized and communicated to the Company’s management as 
appropriate and within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have not been any changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act, during the Company’s last fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably 
likely to materially affect, its internal control over financial reporting.

PART II – OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

The information regarding certain legal proceedings in which we are involved as set forth in Note 11 – Contingencies of the 
Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q) is incorporated by 
reference into this Item 1.

In addition to such legal proceedings, we are faced with or involved in various other claims and legal proceedings arising in the 
normal course of our businesses. At this time, we do not believe any material losses under such other claims and proceedings to be 
probable. While the ultimate outcome of such claims or legal proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, it is in the opinion of 
management, after consultation with legal counsel, that the final outcome in such proceedings, in the aggregate, would not have a 
material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide the information required by this Item.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer

On December 6, 2021, the board of directors of the Company authorized the repurchase of up to $10.0 million of the 
Company’s outstanding common stock under the specified terms of a share repurchase program (the “Program”). During the three 
months ended March 31, 2022, the Company repurchased 1,876,034 shares of its common stock for $2,063,768, in accordance with the 
Program. The Program does not obligate the Company to acquire any specific number of shares and shares may be repurchased in 
privately negotiated and/or open market transactions, including under plans complying with Rule 10b5-1 under the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”).

Period

Total Number 
of

Shares
Purchased

Average Price 
Paid per 
Shares

Total Number 
of 

Shares 
Purchased as

Part of Publicly
Announced 

Program

Maximum 
Approximate 

Dollar Value of
Shares that May 

Yet Be
Purchased 
Under the
Program

January 2022 697,093 1.11 697,093 —
February 2022 692,984 1.12 692,984 —
March 2022 485,957 1.06 485,957 —

Total all plans 1,876,034 $ 1.10 1,876,034 $ 5,961,153
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Item 3. Defaults upon Senior Securities.

Not applicable.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information.

Not applicable.

Item 6. Exhibits.

(a) Exhibits.

31.1 Certificate of Stanton E. Ross pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended.

31.2 Certificate of Thomas J. Heckman pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended.

32.1 Certificate of Stanton E. Ross pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended.

32.2 Certificate of Thomas J. Heckman pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended.

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document 

101.SCH Inline XBRL Schema Document

101.CAL Inline XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF Inline XBRL Definition Linkbase Document 

101.LAB Inline XBRL Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE Inline XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (Embedded within the Inline XBRL document and included in Exhibit)

In accordance with SEC Release 33-8238, Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 are being furnished and not filed.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its 
behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Date: May 20, 2022

DIGITAL ALLY, INC.

By: /s/ STANTON E. ROSS
Name:Stanton E. Ross
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

By: /s/ THOMAS J. HECKMAN
Name: Thomas J. Heckman
Title: Chief Financial Officer, Secretary and Treasurer (Principal 

Financial and Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT 31.1

DIGITAL ALLY, INC.

CERTIFICATIONS
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Stanton E. Ross, Chief Executive Officer of Digital Ally, Inc., certify that:

1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q for the three months ended March 31, 2022 of Digital Ally, Inc.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material 
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report.

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly 
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and 
for, the periods presented in this report.

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls 
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial 
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period 
in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial 
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report 
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period 
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred 
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual 
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control 
over financial reporting.

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control 
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or 
persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over 
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, 
summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role 
in the registrant’s internal controls over financial reporting.

Date: May 20, 2022

/s/ Stanton E. Ross
STANTON E. ROSS
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
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EXHIBIT 31.2

DIGITAL ALLY, INC.

CERTIFICATIONS
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Thomas J. Heckman, Chief Financial Officer of Digital Ally, Inc., certify that:

1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-Q for the three months ended March 31, 2022 of Digital Ally, Inc.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material 
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report.

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly 
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and 
for, the periods presented in this report.

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls 
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial 
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period 
in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial 
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report 
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period 
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred 
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual 
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control 
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control 
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or 
persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over 
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, 
summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role 
in the registrant’s internal controls over financial reporting.

Date: May 20, 2022

/s/ Thomas J. Heckman
THOMAS J. HECKMAN
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



ex32-1.htm EX-32.1 1 of 1
05/20/2022 03:17 PM

EXHIBIT 32.1

DIGITAL ALLY, INC.

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Digital Ally, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the three months ended March 
31, 2022 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Stanton E. Ross, Chief Executive 
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results 
of operations of the Company.

/s/ Stanton E. Ross
STANTON E. ROSS
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
May 20, 2022

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise 
adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has 
been provided to Digital Ally, Inc. and will be retained by Digital Ally, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission 
or its staff upon request.
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EXHIBIT 32.2

DIGITAL ALLY, INC.

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Digital Ally, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the three months ended March 
31, 2022 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Thomas J. Heckman, Chief 
Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results 
of operations of the Company.

/s/ Thomas J. Heckman
THOMAS J. HECKMAN
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
May 20, 2022

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise 
adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has 
been provided to Digital Ally, Inc. and will be retained by Digital Ally, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission 
or its staff upon request.


